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September 26, 2013 

 
 
 
Honorable Chairman and Members of the  
   Georgia Environmental Finance Authority Board 
233 Peachtree Street, NE 
Harris Tower, Suite 900 
Atlanta, Georgia  30303-1506 
 
Dear Board Members: 
 
This year’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Report reflects the ability of the Georgia Environmental Finance Authority (“the 
Authority”) to impact in a positive manner the environmental and energy needs of Georgia’s local governments. In doing so, 
the Authority has been able to continue its progress to fulfill its mission statement “to conserve and improve Georgia’s 
energy, land and water resources”. 
 
The 2013 state fiscal year proved to be another very productive year.  During that period, the Authority executed over $189 
million in grant and loan commitments from both state and federal sources to finance water, wastewater, land conservation 
and solid waste projects for local governments throughout Georgia.    
 
The Energy Resources Division continues its work to provide energy information and assistance to our citizens. The Division 
continues to provide assistance to weatherize the homes of elderly and low-income people.  The Division continues to be 
very actively involved in promoting energy efficiency and renewable energy in the following sectors: buildings, utilities, and 
industries.  The Fuel Storage Tank (FST) programs provided services for approximately 692 fuel storage tanks owned by 20 
state agencies and departments.  FST completed its ninth year of the statewide preventive maintenance program which 
inspects, registers, and repairs all fuel storage tanks owned by the state in accordance with state and federal regulations.  In 
FY 2013, the Division also continued environmental clean-up efforts at 8 ongoing remediation sites.  
 
For the twenty-seventh straight year, the Authority was awarded the prestigious Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in 
Financial Reporting by the Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada. The Authority is one 
of only a few agencies in Georgia State government to receive the Certificate of Achievement. 
 
Thank you for your continued support and commitment to the highest standards of client service and financial management. 
I am pleased to present this 2013 annual financial report to you. 

 
Sincerely, 
 

 
Kevin Clark 

 
 Nathan Deal 

Governor  GEORGIA ENVIRONMENTAL FINANCE AUTHORITY  Kevin Clark 
Executive Director 
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Nathan Deal 

Governor  GEORGIA ENVIRONMENTAL FINANCE AUTHORITY  
Kevin Clark 

Executive Director 
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www.gefa.org        

September 26, 2013 
 
 
 
To the Honorable Chairman, Distinguished Members of the 
Georgia Environmental Finance Authority Board and the readers of this report: 
 
It is with great pleasure that the Georgia Environmental Finance Authority (the “Authority”) presents the 
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (the “CAFR”) for the fiscal year (FY) ended June 30, 2013. The report 
consists of management’s representations concerning the finances of the Authority.  Responsibility for the 
accuracy of the data and the completeness and fairness of the presentation, including all disclosures, rests with 
the management of the Authority.  In order to achieve these assurances, the Authority must provide a 
comprehensive internal control framework designed to protect its assets from loss, theft, or misuse, and to 
compile sufficient reliable information for the preparation of the Authority’s financial statements in conformity 
with United States Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”).  As management, we assert that, to 
the best of our knowledge and belief, this financial report is complete and reliable in all material aspects. 
 
Mauldin and Jenkins, Certified Public Accountants LLC have audited the Authority’s financial statements for the 
year. The goal of an independent audit is to provide reasonable assurance the financial statements of the 
Authority are free of material misstatement.  The independent auditors concluded, based upon the audit, that 
there was a reasonable basis for issuing an unqualified (“clean”) opinion on the Authority’s financial statements 
for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013.  The independent auditor’s report is presented as the first component 
of the financial section of this report. 
 
GAAP requires that management provide a narrative introduction, overview, and analysis to accompany the 
basic financial statements in the form of Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A). The MD&A contains a 
narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the Authority. The Georgia Environmental Finance 
Authority’s MD&A can be found immediately following the independent auditors’ report.  This transmittal letter, 
which is designed to assist users in assessing the government’s financial condition, should complement the 
MD&A and should be read from that perspective and in conjunction with all other sections of the Authority’s 
CAFR. 
 

PROFILE OF THE AUTHORITY 
 
In 1983, the Governor and the Georgia General Assembly, acting on the 1982 recommendations of the 
Environmental Facilities Study Commission, created the Environmental Facilities Program and placed it in an 
existing agency called the Georgia Development Authority.  The findings of the study commission identified the 
widening gap between local environmental infrastructure needs and the financial resources to pay for them.  
The Georgia General Assembly created the Georgia Environmental Facilities Authority in 1986 and transferred 
all of the environmental facilities program assets and functions from the Georgia Development Authority to the 
Georgia Environmental Facilities Authority.  In FY 2010, the Georgia General Assembly renamed the Georgia 
Environmental Facilities Authority to the Georgia Environmental Finance Authority. 
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The Authority is a public corporation and an instrumentality of Georgia state government.  There is an eleven-
member board, eight appointed by the Governor and three who serve ex-officio.  Three of the eight appointees 
are municipal officials, three are county officials and two are appointed from the state at large.  The three ex-
officio members are the Commissioner of the Georgia Department of Economic Development, the 
Commissioner of the Georgia Department of Community Affairs and the State Auditor. 
 
The Authority is organized under the Official Code of Georgia Annotated (the “OCGA”), Title 50, Chapter 23 
("The Georgia Environmental Finance Authority Act").  The Authority's stated purpose is "to assist local 
governments in constructing, extending, rehabilitating, repairing and renewing environmental facilities, and to 
assist in the financing of such needs by providing grants, loans, bonds and other assistance to local 
governments" and eligible local authorities.  Initially, the Authority was only authorized to make loans for water 
supply or wastewater treatment and related facilities.  In 1989, legislation was passed that allowed the Authority 
to also make loans to fund solid waste management facilities.   
 
In 2010, legislation was passed to allow the Authority to create a subsidiary organization for the purposes of 
carrying out certain powers of the Authority.  As a result of this change, the Authority created the Georgia 
Environmental Loan Acquisition Corporation (the “Corporation”), a nonprofit organization, to purchase tax-
exempt loans from the Authority through a loan securitization transaction.  Proceeds from the sale, in 
conjunction with cash reserves, were used to remit funds back to the state treasury at the voluntary option of the 
Authority’s board of directors. The Corporation is a component unit of the Authority and is discretely presented 
within the Authority’s financial statements. 
 
The Authority is comprised of two primary divisions:  Water Resources (WRD) and Energy Resources (ERD). 
The divisions provide a wide range of services including loans, grants and subsidies to jurisdictions throughout 
the state for water supply and wastewater improvements, grants for energy conservation and household 
energy efficiency restorations, services for remediation of underground storage tanks, and grants or loans for 
conservation of land resources. Administrative divisions of the Authority also exist to support initiatives of these 
primary divisions.   

 
OUTCOMES AND INITIATIVES 

 
During fiscal year 2013, the WRD executed 59 contracts for water, sewer, land conservation and solid waste 
projects valued at over $189 million.  The WRD also led an initiative to study future clean water resource needs 
throughout the state.  From its study, approximately $2.7 billion in accepted wastewater infrastructure projects in 
Georgia have been identified and submitted to the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency and the U.S. 
Congress.   The significance of this study will help federal authorities prioritize funding allocations for states who 
receive funds under the Clean Water Act. Future funding levels will influence how many of these identified 
projects the Authority will be able to finance in future years. 
 
The WRD continues to support projects that assist local governments and authorities and help them to ensure 
Georgians in their territories have access to clean and safe drinking water.  By conducting studies like the one 
mentioned above and providing funding to jurisdictions to help mitigate loss of water, as funded by the 
Authority’s Drinking Water program, the Authority plays a vital role in water conservation, delivery and 
preservation around the state. 
 
Activities of the LRD, which was a separate division of the Authority in the previous year, were collapsed into the 
ERD.  In fiscal year 2013, the ERD participated in many diverse initiatives. A few of these initiatives included:  
managing revolving loan funds initially started with seed money under the American Recovery and 
Reinvestment Act of 2009, formulating program polices over the guaranteed energy savings performance 
contracting program and the successful implementation of an agriculture irrigation motor replacement program, 
to name a few.  All of these initiatives were undertaken to promote conservation in energy for state-owned 
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facilities and residential customers. Other initiatives of the ERD include ongoing monitoring and remediation of 
fuel storage tanks, weatherization of homes for low income residential customers and oversight of the Georgia 
Energy Challenge program which seeks to encourage reduced energy usage for commercial and residential 
users. 
 
Both divisions will continue to adapt to the various federal, state and local level changes that influence their core 
missions.  Each will have to look to formulate new ways to secure additional funding to manage its programs 
due to federal, state and local government budget cuts.   
 
For additional information regarding activities of the Authority, please see the Statistical Section of this CAFR 
which provides specific outcomes of many of these program initiatives. 
 
Cash Management. The Authority has a responsibility to carefully account for public, state and federal funds 
used to administer its programs.  Cash temporarily idle during the year was invested in the state of Georgia 
Local Government Investment Pool, which is managed by the Office of the State Treasurer.  This investment 
pool is available to local governments and state authorities and is authorized to invest in the same types of 
securities as the Authority.  All pooled assets are collateralized in accordance with State Depository Board 
rules.   

   
Risk Management.  The Authority is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and 
destruction of assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters.  The Authority 
participates in the State's Risk Management Pool, which purchases commercial insurance and also self-
insures for risks associated with the theft of state-owned real and personal property, liability claims against the 
Authority arising from its operations, liability claims against the Authority's officials and employees, and 
honesty and faithful performance bonds on employees.  A premium is paid to the Department of 
Administrative Services for the Authority's insurance coverage. 
 
Independent Audit.  OCGA 50-23-3 (c) requires that "The Authority shall keep suitable books and records of 
all actions and transactions and shall submit such books together with a statement of the Authority's financial 
position to an independent auditing firm selected by the Authority on or about the close of the state's fiscal 
year for the purpose of obtaining a certified audit of the Authority's finances.” The Authority has complied with 
this law and the report resulting from the certified audit performed by Mauldin & Jenkins, Certified Public 
Accountants LLC, is included in the financial section of this report. Due to the substantial amount of federal 
funding in the Clean Water State Revolving Loan Fund, Drinking Water State Revolving Loan Fund and ARRA 
programs, the Authority also had a single audit performed in accordance with OMB Circular A-133.  These 
statements are presented in the Single Audit section of this report. Under the revised provisions of OMB 
Circular A- 133, the Authority has been classified as a “low risk auditee.” 
 
Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting. The Government Finance Officers 
Association of the United States and Canada (the “GFOA”) awarded a Certificate of Achievement for 
Excellence in Financial Reporting to the Authority for its CAFR for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2012.  This 
was the 26th consecutive year the Authority has achieved this prestigious award.   

 
To be awarded a Certificate of Achievement, a governmental unit must publish an easily readable and 
efficiently organized CAFR. This report must satisfy both generally accepted accounting principles and 
applicable legal requirements.  A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a period of one year.  We anticipate this 
year’s CAFR will also qualify for this distinguished award. 
 
Acknowledgements.  This report could not have been prepared without the support and encouragement of the 
Authority’s management, staff and members of its board. We are very appreciative for their dedication to sound 
responsible financial operations.    Additionally, any financial report is only as good as the accounting and 
financial records that supply its supporting data.  The Authority’s accounting and finance staff deserve special 
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recognition for their dedication, knowledge, perseverance and attention to detail.  Lastly, we would like to send 
a special thanks to the division directors; the administrative team for its contributions in the preparation of the 
CAFR and to our independent auditors, Mauldin and Jenkins, Certified Public Accountants LLC, for their 
expertise, professionalism and dedication to ensuring our audit was completed efficiently and timely. 

 
Respectfully submitted, 

       
      J. Chris Jones, CGFM 

Chief Financial Officer 

 
Jammie Z. Harden, CGFM 
Controller 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT  
 
 

The Members of the  

Georgia Environmental Finance Authority 

Atlanta, Georgia 

 

Report on the Financial Statements 

 We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-
type activities, the discretely presented component unit, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund 
information of the Georgia Environmental Finance Authority (the “Authority”), a component unit of the 
State of Georgia, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2013, and the related notes to the financial 
statements, which collectively comprise the Authority’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of 
contents.   

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

 Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation 
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor’s Responsibility 

 Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit.  We 
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America 
and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States.  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.   

 An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In 
making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and 
fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control.  Accordingly, we express no such opinion.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, 
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

 We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our audit opinions. 
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Opinions 

 In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the discretely 
presented component unit, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Georgia 
Environmental Finance Authority, as of June 30, 2013, and the respective changes in financial position and, 
where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Emphasis of Matter 

 As described in Note 12, the Authority implemented Governmental Accounting Standards Board 
Statements No. 63, Financial Reporting of Deferred Outflows of Resources, Deferred Inflows of Resources, 
and Net Position, and No. 65, Items Previously Reported as Assets and Liabilities, effective July 1, 2012.  
These standards modified terminology and presentation of certain accounts and changed the accounting for 
bond issuance costs.  Our opinions are not modified with respect to this matter. 

Other Matters 

Required Supplementary Information 

 Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis on pages 4 through 16 be presented to supplement the basic 
financial statements.  Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by 
the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting 
for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context.  We 
have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing 
standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management 
about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with 
management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained 
during our audit of the basic financial statements.  We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on 
the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an 
opinion or provide any assurance. 

Other Information 

 Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that 
collectively comprise the Authority’s basic financial statements. The combining non-major fund financial 
statements; the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards, as required by Office of Management and 
Budget Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations; and the 
introductory and statistical sections are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required 
part of the basic financial statements.   

 

2



 
 
 

 
 
 The combining non-major fund financial statements and the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal 
Awards are the responsibility of management and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying 
accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements.  Such information has been 
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain 
additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying 
accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial 
statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally 
accepted in the United States of America.  In our opinion, the combining non-major fund financial statements 
and the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards are fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to 
the basic financial statements as a whole. 

 The introductory and statistical sections have not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied 
in the audit of the basic financial statements and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any 
assurance on them. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

 In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated 
September 26, 2013 on our consideration of the Authority’s internal control over financial reporting and on our 
tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other 
matters.  The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial 
reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal control over 
financial reporting or on compliance.  That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the Authority’s internal control over financial reporting and 
compliance. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Atlanta, Georgia 
September 26, 2013 
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GEORGIA ENVIRONMENTAL FINANCE AUTHORITY 
(A Component Unit of the State of Georgia) 

 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

(Unaudited) 

  

The management of the Georgia Environmental Finance Authority (the “Authority”) offers this narrative overview 
and analysis of the financial activities of the Authority for the fiscal year (FY) ended June 30, 2013. This discussion 
and analysis examines in further detail the Authority’s financial performance as a whole.  Readers of this report are 
also encouraged to review the financial statements and notes to the financial statements to enhance their 
understanding of business activities conducted by the Authority. 

Financial Highlights 

Key financial highlights for the year ended June 30, 2013 include: 

 The Authority’s combined net position totaled $1.9 billion, an increase of $168.7 million. 

 Total net position of governmental activities decreased by $5.1 million, compared to a $4.4 million 
decrease the year before and total net position of business-type activities increased by $173.8 million, 
compared to a $148.1 million increase in the prior year. 

 At the close of the fiscal year, the Authority’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund balances 
of $41.0 million, a decrease of $5.2 million from the prior year.  Approximately 9 percent of this total 
amount, or $3.9 million, is available for spending at the Authority’s discretion, provided the Authority 
spends it within approved guidelines (unassigned fund balance).   

 Combined revenues totaled $214.2 million, of which governmental activities totaled $39.1 million and 
business-type activities totaled $175.1 million.  Current year revenues decreased approximately 20.3 
percent from those of the prior year, mostly within governmental activities. 

 Business-type activities had total loan repayments of approximately $215 million, representing a greater 
than 70 percent increase over the prior year. 

 As a whole, the Authority’s net position experienced a 17.4 percent increase of $168.7 million.  The 
additional cash received within its loan programs keeps the Authority liquid and positioned to fund eligible 
water and wastewater projects within the state and help local governments and water and waste 
management authorities with economic growth whenever it is critically needed across Georgia. 

The above financial highlights are explained further in the “financial analysis” section of this document. 
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Overview of the Financial Statements 

This discussion and analysis section is intended to serve as an introduction to the Authority’s basic financial 
statements.  The Authority’s financial statements contain three components:  government-wide statements, fund 
financial statements and notes to the basic financial statements.  This report also contains other supplementary 
information in addition to the basic financial statements themselves. 

Government-wide Financial Statements 

The Authority’s comprehensive annual financial report includes two government-wide financial statements.  These 
statements are intended to provide a broad overview of both long-term and short-term information about the 
Authority’s overall financial position.  Financial reporting at this level uses a financial perspective similar to that 
found in the private sector with its basis in accrual accounting and elimination or reclassification of activities 
between funds. 

The first government-wide statement is the Statement of Net Position, which is the government-wide statement 
that presents information that includes all of the Authority’s assets and liabilities, with the difference between them 
reported as net position.  Over time, increases or decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of 
whether the financial position of the Authority, as a whole, is improving or deteriorating.  Evaluation of the overall 
fiscal health of the Authority would extend to other nonfinancial factors such as new or changes in legislation over 
which the Authority has no direct control, changes in levels of federal or state funding, or a change in 
management’s programmatic focus, in addition to the financial information provided in this report. 

The second government-wide statement is the Statement of Activities, which reports how the Authority’s net 
position changed during the reported fiscal period.  All current year’s revenues and expenses are accounted for 
regardless of when cash is received or paid.  Thus, revenues and expenses are reported in this statement that will 
result in cash flows in future fiscal periods. One important purpose of the statement of activities is to show the 
financial reliance of the Authority’s distinct activities or functions on the revenues provided by the State of Georgia 
and federal grantors, as well as that on the revenue streams from repayment of loans from our ever-growing 
customer base.   

Both government-wide financial statements distinguish governmental activities of the Authority that are principally 
supported by federal or state appropriated grants from business-type activities that are intended to recover all or a 
significant portion of their costs through user fees and charges.  Governmental activities include general 
administrative operations of the Authority and those costs incurred for expenditure-driven grant programs, such as 
those incurred by the Energy Resources Division as well as those costs associated with administering the federal 
state revolving loan programs.  Business-type activities include all operations of the Authority’s lending programs, 
as well as activities associated with its fuel storage tank maintenance program. The government-wide financial 
statements are presented on pages  of this report. 
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Fund Financial Statements 

A fund is an accounting unit used to maintain control over resources segregated for specific activities or objectives.  
The Authority uses funds to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related laws and regulations.  Within 
the basic financial statements, fund financial statements focus on the Authority’s most significant funds rather than 
the Authority as a whole.  Major funds are separately reported while all other (nonmajor) funds are combined into a 
single, aggregated presentation.  Individual fund data for nonmajor funds is provided in the form of combining 
statements in a later section of this report. 

All of the funds of the Authority can be divided into two categories:  governmental funds and proprietary funds. 

Governmental funds are reported in the fund financial statements and include the same functions reported as 
governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements.  However, the focus is different with fund 
financial statements providing a varied view of the Authority’s governmental funds.  These statements report short-
term fiscal accountability focusing on the use of the spendable resources.  They account for items using the 
current financial resources measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting which measures cash 
and all other financial assets that can readily be converted to cash.  They are useful in evaluating annual financing 
requirements of governmental programs and the Authority’s ability to commit spendable resources for near-term 
expenditures. 

Since the government-wide focus includes the long-term view, comparisons between these two outlooks may 
provide insight into the long-term impact of short-term spending decisions.  For this particular reason, reconciliation 
between the governmental activities (shown in the Statement of Net Position and Statement of Activities) and the 
governmental funds is provided at the bottom of the fund financial statements. 

The Authority maintains fourteen (14) individual governmental funds.  Information is presented separately in the 
governmental fund balance sheet and in the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes 
in fund balances for the General Fund, Weatherization Assistance Program, ARRA-Weatherization Assistance 
Program Funds and the Drinking Water SRF Local Assist Setasides Fund, which are considered major funds and 
are presented on pages  of this report.  Data from other governmental funds are combined into a single, 
aggregated presentation.  Individual data for each of these nonmajor governmental funds is provided in the form of 
combining statements elsewhere in this report. 

Proprietary funds are reported in the fund financial statements and generally report those activities for which the 
Authority charges its customers a fee for the use of its financial resources or technical expertise.  The Authority’s 
proprietary funds are classified as enterprise funds.  These enterprise funds essentially are the same as the 
business-type activities reported in the government-wide statements but provide more detail and additional 
information, such as cash flows associated with these distinct programs. 

The Authority maintains eight (8) individual enterprise funds.  Information is presented separately in the enterprise 
fund statement of net position and in the enterprise fund statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net 
position for the Georgia Fund, Georgia Reservoir & Water Supply Fund, Clean Water State Revolving Loan Fund, 
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Clean Water State Match Revolving Loan Fund, Drinking Water State Revolving Loan Fund, and Drinking Water 
State Match Revolving  Loan Fund, all of which are considered major funds of the Authority and are presented on 
pages  of this report.  Individual fund data for the nonmajor enterprise funds is provided in the form of 
combining statements elsewhere in this report. 

Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 

The accompanying notes to the financial statements provide information necessary for a full understanding of the 
government-wide and fund financial statements.  The notes to the financial statements begin on page  of this 
report. 

Supplementary information 

In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying note disclosures, this report also presents certain 
supplementary information concerning the Authority’s funds.  As mentioned previously, the Authority reports major 
funds in the basic financial statements.  Combining and individual statements and schedules for nonmajor funds 
are presented in this section of this report beginning on page . 

Government-wide Financial Analysis of the Authority  

Year-to-year financial changes in net position trend information is accumulated on a consistent basis.  This 
information trend will be observed, analyzed and used to discuss the financial position of the Authority as a whole. 
As noted earlier, net position over time may serve as a useful indicator of the Authority’s financial position. In the 
case of the Authority, net position was $1.9 billion as of June 30, 2013 compared to $1.7 billion in the preceding 
fiscal year. The following table presents a summary of the Authority’s net position: 

 

Georgia Environmental Finance Authority - Net Position
As of June 30, 2013 and 2012

Increase

Governmental activities Business-type activities Total (Decrease)

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 %

Current and other assets $ 44,553,595  52,182,805  1,868,679,179 1,724,316,906 1,913,232,774 1,776,499,711 7.7%

Capital assets 24,718        35,324        -                    -                    24,718            35,324            (30.0%)

     Total assets 44,578,313  52,218,129  1,868,679,179 1,724,316,906 1,913,257,492 1,776,535,035 7.7%

Long-term liabilities outstanding 359,574       504,268       -                    -                    359,574          504,268          (28.7%)

Other liabilities 3,597,803    6,008,816    367,005          29,794,903      3,964,808       35,803,719      (88.9%)

     Total liabilities 3,957,377    6,513,084    367,005          29,794,903      4,324,382       36,307,987      (88.1%)

Net position:

  Inv estment in capital assets 24,718        35,324        -                    -                    24,718            35,324            (30.0%)

  Restricted 37,104,014  42,345,523  1,383,034,270 1,254,229,701 1,420,138,284 1,296,575,224 9.5%

  Unrestricted 3,492,204    3,324,198    485,277,904    440,292,302    488,770,108    443,616,500    10.2%

     Total net position $ 40,620,936  45,705,045  1,868,312,174 1,694,522,003 1,908,933,110 1,740,227,048 9.7%

Primary Government
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The Authority’s investment in capital assets comprises expenditures made for securing computer equipment and 
furniture and fixtures.  Minimal cash is expended for the purposes of acquiring capital assets because the 
Authority’s primary function is to be a financial conduit on behalf of the State of Georgia and therefore holds few 
depreciable assets.  The Authority’s investment in capital assets at fiscal year year-end was $24.7 thousand.  

There was a decrease in restricted net position of the Authority’s governmental activites of approximately $5.2 
million. 

 Total restricted for grant programs decreased by $115.8 thousand. 
 Total  for loan programs decreased by $5.1 million. 

There was an increase in restricted net position of the Authority’s business-type activities of approximately $128.8 
million which was all held for the use of the Authority’s federal loan programs. 

The following table provides a summary of the changes in net position, with comparative data for the current and 
prior fiscal years: 

 

Georgia Environmental Finance Authority - Changes in Net Position
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 and 2012

Increase
Governmental activities Business-type activities Total (Decrease)

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 %

Rev enues:

 Program rev enues:

  Charges for serv ices $ 591,955          1,529,171       69,972,715      38,459,360      70,564,670      39,988,531      76.5%

  Operating grants and contributions 38,441,654      115,960,883    104,896,682    112,292,163    143,338,336    228,253,046    (37.2%)

 General rev enues:

  Unrestricted inv estment earnings 65,912            68,914            -                    -                    65,912            68,914            (4.4%)

  Other income 26,621            32,922            161,770          363,722          188,391          396,644          (52.5%)

   Total rev enues 39,126,142      117,591,890    175,031,167    151,115,245    214,157,309    268,707,135    (20.3%)

Ex penses (net of indirect costs):

 General gov ernment 9,005,073       9,022,959       -                    -                    9,005,073       9,022,959       (0.2%)

 Water and w astew ater 8,496,123       8,799,184       8,437,183       13,768,944      16,933,306      22,568,128      (25.0%)

 Land conserv ation 41,733            59,061            -                    -                    41,733            59,061            (29.3%)

 Energy  and env ironment 18,322,583      91,335,755      -                    -                    18,322,583      91,335,755      (79.9%)

 Storage tank maintenance -                    -                    800,089          1,357,477       800,089          1,357,477       (41.1%)

 General and administrativ e -                    -                    348,463          697,685          348,463          697,685          (50.1%)

 Interest on long-term debt -                    78                  -                    -                    -                    78                  (100.0%)

   Total ex penses 35,865,512      109,217,037    9,585,735       15,824,106      45,451,247      125,041,143    (63.7%)

Increase in net position before transfers 3,260,630       8,374,853       165,445,432    135,291,139    168,706,062    143,665,992    17.4%

Transfers (8,344,739)      (12,774,656)     8,344,739       12,774,656      -                    -                    -             

Increase (decrease) in net position (5,084,109)      (4,399,803)      173,790,171    148,065,795    168,706,062    143,665,992    17.4%

Net position - July  1 45,705,045      50,104,848      1,694,522,003 1,546,456,208 1,740,227,048 1,596,561,056 9.0%

Net position - June 30 $ 40,620,936      45,705,045      1,868,312,174 1,694,522,003 1,908,933,110 1,740,227,048 9.7%

Primary Government
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Governmental Revenues 

The Authority’s revenues for governmental activities of $39.1 million were comprised  of approximately $13.2 
million in charges for services and operating grants and contributions primarily from the United States Department 
of Energy, $8 million from the United States Environmental Protection Agency, $5.7 million pass-through funds 
from the United States Department of Health and Human Services and $1.9 million received from the Geogia 
Power Company representing approximately 74 percent of total revenues for governmental activities as shown in 
the graph below.  Because these programs operate on the basis of expenditure-driven grants, revenues typically 
parallel activity within those programs.  In addition, the Authority received $9.6 million in appropriations from the 
state that were included within governmental activities. 

 
Unrestricted investment earnings of $66 thousand within governmental activities were reported during the year, 
down slightly from $69 thousand in 2012.  This decrease in investment earnings is mostly associated with a 

9



GEORGIA ENVIRONMENTAL FINANCE AUTHORITY 
(A Component Unit of the State of Georgia) 

 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

(Unaudited) 

  

decrease in investable funds held for match under for the SRF funds, tied to the decrease within the General Fund 
mentioned earlier. 

Governmental Functional Expenses 

In fiscal year 2013,  expenses within the general government function experienced a slight decrease of less than 1 
percent indicating a stablization of personnel cost after a nearly 23 percent reduction experienced in FY 2012.  

 
There was a slight reduction in the water and wastewater program function expenses of governmental activities of 
3 percent.  This function of the Authority is primarily dependent upon activity associated with pass through 
contractors and is driven mostly by related expenses incurred by these contractors.  As such, year-to-year 
fluctuations have been experienced.   However, this year’s activity remained fairly consistent with that of last 
year’s.   

The land conservation function financed projects and other program expenses totaling $41.7 thousand.  A 
continuing decline in appropriated funds and fewer approved projects attributed to the 29 percent reduction in 
activity within this function. 

The energy program function comprises 51 percent of total governmental activities’ expenses and 40 percent of 
the Authority’s total expenses.  In fiscal year 2012, these percentages were 84 percent and 73 percent, 
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respectively.  As availability of ARRA funding within the energy division has dwindled, the Authority’s reported 
expenses have reflected continuing declines within this function.  As of June 30, 2013, only one of the Authority’s 
original six ARRA energy programs was being funded.   

Business-type Activities:  Revenues vs Expenses  

Revenues 

Several factors drive revenues within business-type activities.  Total revenue for the business-type activities for the 
Authority for FY 2013 were $175.0 million, an increase of approximately 16 percent from the previous fiscal year 
total of $151.1 million.  The increase for the current fiscal year primarily results from recognition of income 
previously deferred in the Authority’s federal match loan programs.  The impact on current year revenues for this 
change was an additional $29.5 million over the prior year, or a 76 percent increase. 

Because the Authority receives a significant portion of its revenues from federal and state sources, fluctuating 
contributions may influence results. Thus, the increase related to the recognition of match revenue for fiscal year 
2013 was offset by a combined 7 percent reduction from federal and state sources, coupled with other economic 
changes such as loss of income on loans paid off early and a change to the Authority’s interest rate tier structure 
approved by the Authority’s board. 
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Expenses 

Expenses within the Authority’s business-type activites decreased substantially for the current fiscal year, with the 
water and wastewater programs experiencing the greatest decrease.  This decrease is mainly related to 
forgiveness on loans provided within the Clean Water SRF Revolving Loan Fund.  For fiscal year 2012, the 
Authority provided approximately $4.1 million in principal forgiveness for its Clean Water State Revolving loan 
program as compared to $1.8 million in the current year, accounting for nearly 43 percent of the total reduction of 
$5.3 million within this function.  In addition, the Georgia Fund had a total reduction of nearly $1.0 million due to a 
shift in funding priorities for the Authority.  

The storage tank maintenance program had decreased expenses of approximately 41 percent.  This decrease can 
be attributed to reduced activity for projects funded by participating funders.  During the year, fewer receipts from 
reciprocal agencies were provided that share in project costs managed by the Authority. 

General and administrative expenses reflect those expenses incurred by the Authority to execute its loan 
programs.  This decrease in general and administrative expenses of approximately 50 percent is due to a 
reclassification of cost for charges related to the Authority’s water and wastewater programs.   

The above details are illustrated in the graph below: 
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Financial Analysis of the Authority’s Funds 

Governmental Funds 

As noted earlier, the focus of the Authority’s governmental funds is to provide information on short-term inflows and 
outflows of spendable resources.  This information is useful in assessing reserves available at the end of the year 
in comparison to upcoming financing requirements.  Governmental funds reported ending fund balances of $41.0 
million in fiscal year 2013, compared to $46.2 million in fiscal year 2012.  Of these year-end totals, $3.9 million in 
fiscal year 2013 and $3.8 million in fiscal year 2012 was unassigned and available for continued financing by the 
Authority.   

The total ending fund balances of governmental funds show a decrease of $5.2 million, compared to the decrease 
experienced in fiscal year 2012 of $4.4 million.  This change is primarily due to increased activity in loan programs 
requiring match funds which were transferred out to their appropriate loan programs.   

 Major Governmental Funds 

The General Fund is the Authority’s primary operating fund and the source of daily administrative operations.  The 
General Fund’s fund balance decreased by $4.6 million in fiscal year 2013 as compared to the $4.3 million 
decrease from the previous year.  This decrease is mostly due to receipt of fewer bond funds received from the 
state which are deposited in the General Fund until it is expended for pass-through contracts or match 
requirements.  The remainder is held and considered restricted for specific purposes such as grant or loan specific 
requirements.  The portion of fund balance obligated in the General Fund at year-end was $4.4 million, down from 
$9.0 million in fiscal year 2012. The majority of this decrease can be attributed to fewer bond dollars received from 
the state and increased activity levels in match-related expenditures for the federal loan programs. 

The General Fund’s ending unassigned portion of fund balance of $3.9 million represents the equivalent of 34 
percent of its current year’s expenditures.  The Authority’s overall cash flow within the General Fund is generally 
consistent with increased activity occurring at quarter’s end. The Authority relies very little on the unassigned 
portion of fund balance because administrative expenditures of the Authority are satisfied by either direct grants or 
contracts from federal and state sources or transfers from the repayment stream of the Georgia Fund.   The 
Georgia Fund is the Authority’s resource to cover administrative expenditures incurred within certain programs 
which are not directly funded by a dedicated revenue source or financing contract or grant.  Last year’s amounts 
were $3.8 million and 34 percent, respectively. 

The Weatherization Assistance Program Fund serves as a special revenue fund to provide federal grant funds to 
local governments and nonprofit organizations throughout the state of Georgia in an effort to assist low income 
households achieve energey efficiencies in their homes.  Revenues and expenditures typically net to zero as the 
funding is expenditure-driven and thus no fund balance has been reported for fiscal year 2013. During the year, the 
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Authority used $14.5 thousand of its internal energy investment funds to supplant charges not reimbursed by one 
of the division’s funders. Total expenditures reported within this fund were $7.7 million. 

The ARRA-Weatherization Assistance Program Fund serves as a special revenue fund for programs assisting 
disadvantaged citizens throughout the State of Georgia and is funded by ARRA.  The Authority reported 
expenditures in this fund totaling approximately $9.6 million.   Revenues and expenditures of the ARRA-
Weatherization Assistance Program Fund typically net to zero as the funding is expenditure-driven and thus no 
fund balance has been reported for fiscal year 2013. 

The Drinking Water SRF Local Assist Setasides Fund serves as special revenue fund for programs providing 
federal grant funds to for various drinking water projects for technical assistance to public water systems for 
capacity development purposes.  The Authority reported $3.1 million in expenditure-driven grant funds, for which 
revenue and expenditure activity typically nets to zero, and therefore no fund balance has been reported for fiscal 
year 2013. 

The Proprietary Funds 

The proprietary funds’ statements share the same focus as the government-wide statements, reporting both short-
term and long-term information about financial status.  Each of the fund statements gives detailed information 
about the fund’s financial condition.  The viability of the Authority’s loan and fuel storage tank maintenance 
programs is evident by this year-end’s changes in net position detailed below. 

The Authority’s proprietary funds report the activities of the loan and fuel storage tank maintenance programs.  The 
net position of the proprietary funds increased $173.8 million from business operations.  The total interest income 
from loans for proprietary funds with a lending component for 2013 was $68.2 million, a 76 percent increase over 
the prior year which is primarily explained by a change in the Authority’s income recognition principle for the 
federal SRF match revolving loan funds, Clean Water and Drinking Water.  Previously, the grant agreements 
included a requirement which did not allow recognition of income from loans made with matching requirements 
until the income had been expended on a new qualifying program loan.  Newer requirements, in updated 
agreements, do not include a specific requirement regarding the recognition of income however still maintain that 
this income is to be held for purposes of the program.  These new requirements were determined to only be a 
purpose restriction and the income related to the exchange transaction is more appropriately recognized as 
revenue with the resulting net position being restricted.  As a result, the Authority recognized revenue in the 
amount of $24,967,386 for its Clean Water State Match Revolving Loan Fund and $4,522,976 for its Drinking 
Water State Match Revolving Loan Fund in order to be in compliance with newer program guidelines administered 
by its grantor agency. 

The fuel storage tank maintenance program had total revenues of approximately $1.1 million partially from fees 
charged customers for the maintenance of state-owned equipment, contract revenues from other state agencies, 
and promotional expense refunds from vendors, down from $1.6 million the previous year.  As aforementioned, 
revenues within the fuel storage tank maintenance program experienced a significant decrease in reciprocal 
revenues from other participating entities across the state that share in project costs. 
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Net position of the Authority’s proprietary funds for federal programs are restricted for their respective purposes 
and are recycled into resources available to fund their core missions.  Net position of the Authority’s proprietary 
funds for state programs are typically unrestricted and can be used for the purposes they are held for, as 
authorized through current legislation, and recycled into resources available to fund their core missions.   

Budgetary Information 

The Authority does not adopt an annual budget because it is included in the State’s budget as a one-line 
appropriation in the Department of Community Affairs’ budget under the Authority’s enabling legislation.  However, 
the Authority’s management does utilize a budget for its funds to be used for financial analysis purposes and 
expenditure control throughout the year. 

Capital Assets and Debt Administration 

Capital Assets 

The Authority’s investment in capital assets for its governmental activities as of June 30, 2013 amounts to $24.7 
thousand (net of accumulated depreciation).  This investment in capital assets includes equipment, furniture and 
fixtures.   As of the close of the fiscal year, the Authority had no investment in capital assets of business-type 
activities because those activities are dedicated to the financing of  loan and certain grant or subsidized projects 
and hold no depreciable assets. Additional information regarding the Authority’s capital assets can be found in 
Note 7, page  . 

Long-term Debt 

As of June 30, 2013, the Authority had a total of $359.6 thousand in outstanding long-term liabilities, a decrease of 
$144.7 thousand.  Of this amount, approximately $89.9 thousand is due within one year.   

 

Additional information regarding the Authority’s long-term debt can be found in Note 5, pages . 

Requests for Information 

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the Authority’s finances, comply with finance-
related laws and regulations, and demonstrate the Authority’s commitment to public accountability to all parties 

Georgia Environmental Finance Authority's Long-term Debt Obligations
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013

Balance at
June 30, Percentage Due Within

2013 of Total One Year
Compensated absences 359,574$   100% 89,893$     
     Governmental long-term liabilities 359,574$   89,893$     

Governmental Activities
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with an interest in its financial activities.  Questions concerning any of the information provided in  this report or 
requests for additional information should be addressed to: Georgia Environmental Finance Authority, Controller’s 
Office, 233 Peachtree Street, NE, Harris Tower, Suite 900, Atlanta, Georgia 30303-1506. 
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June 30, 2013

Primary Government Component Unit

Governmental Business-type Ga. Environ.

activities activities Total Loan Acq. Corp.

Cash $ 5,021,852   282,128   5,303,980   32,479,415   

Cash with fiscal agent —    —    —    17,710,024   

Investments 35,254,688   676,898,401   712,153,089   —    

Due from other governments 3,474,883   6,693,191   10,168,074   —    

Internal balances 802,172   (802,172)  —    —    

Accrued interest receivable —    3,315,136   3,315,136   713,408   

Loans receivable —    1,182,292,495   1,182,292,495   176,521,906   

Capital assets, net of accumulated

depreciation 24,718   —    24,718   —    

          Total assets 44,578,313   1,868,679,179   1,913,257,492   227,424,753   

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 3,597,803   367,005   3,964,808   12,484   

Accrued interest payable —    —    —    707,969   

Long-term liabilities:

   Amount due within one year 89,893   —    89,893   7,875,000   

   Amount due in more than one year 269,681   —    269,681   138,161,060   

          Total liabilities 3,957,377   367,005   4,324,382   146,756,513   

Investment in capital assets 24,718   —    24,718   —    

Restricted for:

   Debt service —    —    —    80,668,240   

   Grant programs 5,231,799   —    5,231,799   —    

   Loan programs 31,872,215   1,383,034,270   1,414,906,485   —    

Unrestricted 3,492,204   485,277,904   488,770,108   —    

          Total net position $ 40,620,936   1,868,312,174   1,908,933,110   80,668,240   

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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GEORGIA ENVIRONMENTAL FINANCE AUTHORITY

(A Component Unit of the State of Georgia)

Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures,
and Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities

Year ended June 30, 2013

Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds (5,218,197)$   

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are different because:

    Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures.  However, in the 
        statement of activities the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated 
        useful lives and reported as depreciation expense.

          Depreciation Expense (10,606)

     Expenses related to the change in accrued vacation reported in the governmental 
        activities do not require the use of current financial resources and therefore
        are not reported as expenditures for governmental funds. 144,694         

Change in net position of governmental activities (5,084,109)$   

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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(1) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
(a) Organization 

The Georgia Environmental FinanceAuthority (the “Authority”) was created by an Act of the State of 
Georgia (the “State”) in 1986 as the successor agency to the Georgia Development Authority 
Environmental Facilities Program. The primary mission of the Authority is to provide funding to eligible 
municipalities, counties, water and sewer authorities, and solid waste authorities in the state for 
construction and expansion of public water, sewer, and solid waste facilities. 

The Governor of the State of Georgia appoints eight members of the Authority’s Board and three 
ex-officio members are designated by the Authority’s enabling legislation. Due to the extent of its fiscal 
dependency on the State, the Authority is considered a component unit of the State.  

The Authority has control over the Division of Energy Resources (the “DOER”), which provides 
administration for statewide energy conservation programs including weatherization of homes for low 
income citizens and retrofitting of HVAC systems for schools and other state facilities. 

Additionally, the Authority has control over the Clean Water and Drinking WaterState Revolving Loan 
Fund (the “SRF”), which was previously administered by the Georgia Environmental Protection 
Division (the “EPD”). EPD retained compliance responsibility for capitalization grants issued by the 
United States Environmental Protection Agency (the “EPA”) applicable to Federal fiscal years 1988-
1993 until such grants were fully expended. The Authority is the recipient of and is responsible for the 
administration of capitalization grants applicable to Federal fiscal years 1994 and beyond. The 
Authority and EPD have signed a reciprocal agreement concerning technical and financial 
administration of the SRF. This agreement places ownership of the fund with the Authority in 
accordance with Sections 12-5-38.1 and 50-23-5 of the Official Code of Georgia Annotated (the 
“OCGA”).As a result, the full amount of assets, liabilities, and net position of the fund are included in 
the financial statements of the Authority in the Clean Water SRF and in the Drinking Water SRF. 

The SRF was initially established for the purpose of making loans to local governments for 
construction of publicly owned wastewater treatment facilities and was funded through capitalization 
grants from EPA under the authority of the Clean Water Act. In 1996, the U.S. Congress passed the 
Safe Drinking Water Act and added a Drinking Water SRF program. The program was established for 
the purpose of making loans to local governments for construction of publicly owned water supply 
facilities and is funded through capitalization grants from the EPA under the authority of the Safe 
Drinking Water Act. To receive capitalization grants from both of these programs, a recipient state 
must agree to provide state funds for qualifying projects equal to 20% of the capitalization grant 
amount. In order to provide the matching requirement for the Clean Water SRF program, the Authority 
has dedicated qualifying loans from its existing state funded loan portfolio and certain interest earnings 
on loan repayments and transferred these loans and interest earnings to the SRF. In some instances, 
the matching requirement is met by amounts appropriated, and paid, by the state, the Authority’s 
current method for meeting the 20% match requirement. The results of these transactions are 
displayed on the financial statements of the major enterprise funds – the Clean Water State Revolving 
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Loan Fund, the Clean Water State Match Revolving Loan Fund, the Drinking Water State Revolving 
Loan Fund and the Drinking Water State Match Revolving Loan Fund. 

Effective July 1, 1995, the Fuel Storage Tank Management Group (the “FST”) formerly part of the EPD 
was brought under the control of the Authority. This unit is engaged in the disposal and/or remediation 
of state owned fuel tanks to mandated EPA standards. Therefore, local governments do not benefit 
directly from this program. Pursuant to the bond issuance from which the proceeds to fund FST 
remediation efforts were derived, the Authority is not authorized to receive and expend bond funds for 
the program. Thus, the Authority has entered into an agreement with the Georgia State Financing and 
Investment Commission (the “GSFIC”) and the Georgia Building Authority (the “GBA”) to act as agents 
to receive and expend funds under this program. However, the Authority administers this program and 
determines fund recipients. GSFIC and GBA only act as receiving and paying agents. Therefore, the 
only activity reflected on the Authority’s books is for the cost of the operation of the unit. FST bond 
funds received by GSFIC and expended by GBA were not accounted for on the Authority’s books prior 
to fiscal year 2009.  Effective fiscal year 2009, the Authority began reporting activity of the FST and 
that activity is reflected in the nonmajor enterprise fund – Storage Tank Maintenance Fund. 

In 2010, the Authority’s governing legislation was amended to provide for the creation of subsidiary 
corporations to carry out any of its corporate purposes and to permit it to transfer to the State of 
Georgia any funds not needed for its corporate purposes. In July 2010, the Authority created the 
Georgia Environmental Loan Acquisition Corporation (the “Corporation”) as a subsidiary organization 
pursuant to such provisions of law for the purpose of acquiring a portion of the Authority’s loan 
portfolio and issuing bonds secured by the acquired loans to finance their purchase.   

Reporting Entity – Component units are legally separate organizations for which the State’s or 
Authority’s elected or appointed officials are financially accountable. In accordance with criteria in 
GASB Statements Nos. 14, 39 and 61, the Authority qualifies for treatment as a component unit of the 
State of Georgia; therefore, the Authority’s financial statements are included in the State of Georgia’s 
combined financial statements as a discretely presented component unit. 

Discretely Presented Component Unit 

Financial accountability is the ability of the Authority to appoint a voting majority of an organization’s 
governing board and to impose its will upon the organization or when there exists the potential for the 
organization to provide specific financial benefits or impose specific financial burdens on the primary 
government.  When the Authority does not appoint a voting majority of organization’s governing body, 
GASB standards require inclusion in the financial reporting entity if an organization is fiscally 
dependent upon the Authority, its resources are held for the direct benefit of the Authority or can be 
accessed by the Authority, and a potential financial benefit or burden relationship exists or the 
relationship is such that it would be misleading to exclude it.In accordance with GASB Statements No. 
14 and 61, the Corporation qualifies for treatment as a component unit because it is a legally separate, 
tax-exempt organization, the majority of whose board is appointed by the Authority, for which the 
Authority can impose its will on the Corporation by virtue of having the same management personnel, 
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and whose economic resources aredirectly accessible by the Authority.  As such, the Authority 
presents within these statements the Corporation as a discretely presented component unit. 

The Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net 
Position of the Corporation are reported discretely in the Authority’s financial statements for fiscal year 
2013 as required by government accounting standards.  Complete separate financial statements for 
the Corporation may be obtained by contacting the Authority’s Controller at 233 Peachtree Street, NE, 
Harris Tower, Suite 900, Atlanta, GA  30303-1506. 

(b) Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements 
The Authority presents government-wide financial statements which are prepared using the accrual 
basis of accounting and the economic resources measurement focus. Government-wide financial 
statements (i.e. the statement of net position and the statement of activities) do not provide 
information by fund, but distinguish between the Authority’s governmental activities and business type 
activities. Significantly, the statement of net position includes noncurrent assets and liabilities and the 
government-wide statement of activities reflects depreciation expenses on the Authority’s capital 
assets and changes in long-term liabilities. Also, for the most part, the effect of the interfund activity is 
removed from these statements. Net position in the statement of net position is distinguished between 
amounts invested in capital assets (net of any related debt), amounts that are restricted for use by 
third parties or outside requirements, and amounts that are unrestricted. 

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which direct expenses of a given function or 
segment is offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a 
specific function or segment. Program revenues include 1) charges to customers who purchase, use, 
or benefit from the services provided by a given function or segment and 2) grants and contributions 
that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular function or 
segment, and 3) interest income that is restricted for use on a particular function or segment. 
Unrestricted interest income and other items not properly included among program revenues are 
reported as general revenues. 

In addition to the government-wide financial statements, the Authority has prepared separate financial 
statements for governmental funds and proprietary funds. Governmental fund financial statements use 
the modified accrual basis of accounting and the current financial resources measurement focus and 
proprietary fund financial statements use the accrual basis of accounting and the economic resources 
measurement focus.  

(c) Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation 
The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement 
focus and the accrual basis of accounting, as are the proprietary fund financial statements. Revenues 
are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the 
timing of related cash flows. Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as all 
eligibility requirements have been met. 
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Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources 
measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized as soon 
as they are considered measurable and available. Revenues are considered available when they are 
collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period. 
For this purpose, the Authority considers revenues to be available if they are collected within 60 days 
of the end of the current fiscal year. Exceptions to this rule are: (1) administrative fees received on 
loans which are paid within one year of the initial construction loan contract, and as a result, those 
revenues are considered available to pay the related costs in establishing the loan if collected within 
one year of the current fiscal period and (2) revenues associated with the American Recovery and 
Reinvestment Act (ARRA) grant programs.  Due to compliance requirements of ARRA, the Authority 
considers revenues to be available if they are collected within 90 days of the end of the current fiscal 
year.An additional 30 days were determined a reasonable period for ARRA programs because all 
grants were not accustomed to additional compliance measures such as Davis Bacon Act (DBA) 
reporting requirements, Buy American Act provisions of the ARRA award and other internally 
mandated oversight requirements on the subrecipients.  Expenditures generally are recorded when a 
liability is incurred, as under usual accrual accounting. Entitlements and shared revenues are recorded 
at the time of receipt or earlier if the susceptible to accrual criteria are met. Expenditure-driven grants 
are recognized as revenue when the qualifying expenditures have been incurred and all other grant 
certifications and requirements have been met. 

The Authority reports the following major governmental funds: 

General Fund – The General Fund is the general operating fund of the Authority. It is used to 
account for all financial resources except those required to be accounted for in another fund. 

Weatherization Assistance Program Fund–This fund is used to account for the Authority’s grants 
to local governments and nonprofit entities to be used for the weatherization of low and 
moderate income citizen’s homes, as well as provide assistance in paying utility bills for these 
citizens. Part of this program is known as the Integrated Resources Program (the “IRP”) and is 
funded by contributions from the Georgia Power Company and Atlanta Gas Light Company 
pursuant to an order of the Georgia Public Service Commission. Other financing is provided by 
Federal grants from the Department of Energy and the Department of Health and Human 
Services and petroleum violation escrow funds. 

ARRA-Weatherization Assistance Program Fund – This fund is used to account for the 
Authority’s grants restricted to local governments and nonprofit entities to be used for the 
weatherization of low and moderate income citizen’s homes, as well as provide assistance in 
paying utility bills for these citizens. Financing is provided by federal grants from the United 
States Department of Energy under ARRA. 

Drinking Water SRF Local Assistance Setasides Fund - This fund is used to account for the 
Authority’s “set-aside” grants used for various safe drinking water projects. Financing is provided 
through the Federal Drinking Water capitalization grant.  States may provide assistance, 
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including technical assistance, to public water systems as part of a capacity development 
strategy under Section 1420 (c) of the Act.  States may use up to 15% of the capitalization grant 
amount for these activities, provided not more than 10% of the capitalization grant amount is 
used for any one activity.  This fund accounts for local assistance to various private and public 
contractors. 

The Authority reports the following major enterprise funds: 

Georgia Fund – This fund is used to account for loans to local governments for water, sewer, 
and solid waste improvements. Its revenues are derived from interest income on loans 
receivable and interest income on investments. The original funding for these loans is provided 
through state appropriations or general obligation bonds. 

Georgia Reservoir & Water Supply Fund - This fund is used to account for activities and monies 
associated with grants and loans to governments specific to the construction of reservoirs and 
other eligible water supply operations and systems.  Its revenues are derived from the interest 
income on loans receivable and interest income on investments. The original funding for these 
grants and loans is provided through state appropriations or general obligation bonds. 

Clean Water State Revolving Loan Fund – This fund is used to account for loans to local 
governments for wastewater treatment projects. The original funding for these loans is provided 
through federal capitalization grants. The fund’s revenues are derived from interest income on 
loans receivable and interest income on investments. 

Clean Water State Match Revolving Loan Fund – This fund is used to account for the state’s 
matching portion to provide for loans for wastewater treatment projects similar to the Clean 
Water State Revolving Loan Fund. The federal government requires the state to match 20% of 
the funds contributed to the Clean Water SRF in order to receive the full funding available for 
wastewater treatment projects. The original funding for these loans is provided by the State. The 
fund’s revenues are derived from interest income on loans receivable and interest income on 
investments. 

Drinking Water State Revolving Loan Fund – This fund is used to account for loans to local 
governments for water supply projects. These loans are intended to primarily fund projects 
which promote compliance with the Safe Drinking Water Act. The original funding for these 
loans is provided through federal capitalization grants. The fund’s revenues are derived from 
interest income on loans receivable and interest income on investments. 
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Drinking Water State Match Revolving Loan Fund - This fund is used to account for the state’s 
matching portion to provide for loans for drinking water treatment projects similar to the Drinking 
Water State Revolving Loan Fund. The federal government requires the state to match 20% of 
the funds contributed to the Drinking Water State Revolving Loan Fund in order to receive the 
full funding available for drinking water treatment projects. The original funding for these loans is 
provided by the state. The fund’s revenues are derived from interest income on loans receivable 
and interest income on investments. 

Asa general rule, the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the government-wide 
financial statements, except for the net activity between the governmental and business-type activities. 

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating 
revenues and expenses generally result from providing services in connection with the proprietary 
fund’s principal ongoing operations. The principal operating revenue of each of the Authority’s 
enterprise funds is interest income on loans outstanding and fee charges for providing training and 
technical assistance to UST and AST operators. Operating expenses for the enterprise funds include 
direct general and administrative expenses of administering the programs. All revenues and expenses 
not meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses. General 
administrative overhead expenses are recorded in the general government function within the 
governmental activities. 

When multiple resources are available for use, it is the Authority’s policy to use resources in the 
following order:  (1) restricted, (2) committed, (3) assigned, and (4) unassigned, for those items 
recorded within the governmental funds. For net position, restricted resources are used when 
available, prior to unrestricted resources. Nonspendable resources are utilized in accordance with 
requirements for those resources to be expended, i.e. billing terms, normal consumption or payment 
schedules. 

(d) Cash Equivalents 
For purposes of the statement of cash flows, all investments with original maturity dates of three 
months or less are considered cash equivalents.  

(e) Loans Receivable 
Loans receivable are stated at their unpaid principal balance less undisbursed portion of loans in 
process.Additionally, certain loan programs utilized by the Authority allow for forgiveness of a certain 
portion of the principal amount of the loan or provide a subsidized portion of the loan to communities 
who meet eligibility criteria to qualify as “disadvantaged” communities under federal poverty 
guidelines.  The expected forgiven amount or subsidized portion has been expensed by the Authority 
as the overall loans are disbursed and this amount is not included in the loans receivable at year end. 

The evaluation of the need for an allowance for loan losses is based on management’s evaluation of 
the loan portfolio, current economic conditions, payment history and other such factors which, in 
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management’s judgment, deserve recognition in estimating loan losses.  As of June 30, 2013, the 
Authority does not have a basis for establishing such a provision based on these criteria. 

(f) Interfund Activity 
All outstanding balances between funds are reported as due from/to other funds in the fund financial 
statements. Any residual balances outstanding between the governmental activities and business-type 
activities are reported in the government-wide financial statements as “internal balances.” 

(g) Due from Other Governments 
Due from other governments includes approximately $7,486,152 due from the United States EPA, 
$930,260 due from the United States Department of Energy, $375,229 due from various state entities, 
$672,731 due from local governments and authorities within the state and $703,702due from 
contractualfunders of energy programs. 

(h) Capital Assets 
Capital assets, which include various types of computer equipment and furniture and fixtures, are 
reported in the applicable governmental or business-type activities columns in the government-wide 
financial statements. Capital assets are defined by the Authority as assets with an initial, individual 
cost of more than $5,000 and an estimated useful life in excess of two years. Such assets are 
recorded at historical cost. Donated capital assets are recorded at their estimated fair value at the date 
of donation. The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or 
materially extend the assets lives are not capitalized. 

Capital assets of the Authority are depreciated using the straight line method over the following 
estimated useful lives: 

Asset Years
Computer equipment - purchased 5   
Computer equipment - leased Life of lease
Furniture and fixtures 5     

(i) Investments 
Investments consist of funds on deposit in the Georgia Fund 1, the State of Georgia investment pool. 
The Georgia Fund 1 is an external investment pool, managed by the State of Georgia's Office of the 
State Treasurer, which is not registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) but 
does operate in a manner consistent with SEC’s Rule 2a7 of the Investment Company Act of 1940. 
Accordingly, the Authority’s investments in the Georgia Fund 1 have been determined based on the 
pool’s share price. Other investments are stated at fair value based on quoted market prices. 
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(j) Income Taxes 
The Authority is exempt from Federal income taxes as an integral part of a state government. 
Accordingly, no provision for income taxes has been recorded in the accompanying financial 
statements. 

(k) Compensated Absences 
It is the Authority’s policy to permit employees to accumulate earned but unused vacation and sick pay 
benefits. No liability is reported for unpaid accumulated sick leave because the payment of the 
benefits is contingent upon any future illness of an employee. No cash payments for accumulated sick 
leave are made to employees upon their retirement or termination of employment. Vacation pay is 
reported as an expense and a liability in the government-wide financial statements, but is not a liability 
in the governmental fund statements as it was not due for payment during the current period. 

(l) Risk Management 
The Authority is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts, theft of, damage to, and destruction of 
assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees; workers’ compensation; and natural disasters. 

The Authority is a member of the State of Georgia Insurance Fund, a public entity risk pool currently 
operating as a common risk management and insurance program for various State agencies. The 
Authority pays an annual premium to the State for its insurance coverage. For the year ended June 
30, 2013, the Authority paid premiums totaling $25,159. 

(m) Fund Equity 
(1) Government-wide statements – Equity is classified as net position and displayed in three 
components: 

(a) Investment in capital assets– Consists of capital assets including restricted capital assets, 
net of accumulated depreciation and reduced by the outstanding balances of any bonds, 
mortgages, notes or other debt attributable to the acquisition, construction or improvement 
of those assets, if any. 

(b) Restricted net position – Consists of net position with constraints placed on the use either 
by (a) external groups such as creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of 
other governments; or (b) law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. 

(c) Unrestricted net position – All other assets that do not meet the definition of “restricted” or 
“investment in capital assets.” 

(2) Fund financial statements - Governmental fund equity is classified as fund balance.  Fund balance 
can have one of five primary classifications: (1) nonspendable, (2) restricted, (3) committed, (4) 
assigned or (5) unassigned. Nonspendable fund balance includes amounts that cannot be spent 
and are, therefore, not included in the current year appropriation.  Restricted fund balance 
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includes amounts that are restricted to very specific purposes and cannot be redeployed for other 
purposes.  The Authority considers restricted first and then unrestricted amounts spent when 
expenditures have been incurred for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted fund 
balance is available. These restrictions are either externally imposed by outside parties or by 
constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.Committed fund balance represents amounts that 
have internally imposed restrictions mandated by formal action of the Authority’s Board, with 
removal of the commitment only if by formal action of the Authority’s Board.  Assigned fund 
balance represents amounts that are constrained by the Authority’s intent that they will be used for 
specific purposes which may be so designated by the Authority’s Executive Director, as appointed 
by the Board, or governing Board.  The Authority fund equity balances are comprised of restricted 
and unassigned amounts.  Amounts restricted represent appropriated amounts provided by the 
State to execute certain grant programs of the Authority and general obligation bond proceeds of 
the state provided to be a match resource to the federally funding state revolving loan funds.  
Unassigned fund balance represents residual amounts that are available for further appropriation 
and expenditure for general governmental purposes.  Unassigned fund balance is only available 
for the Authority’s General Fund.  Proprietary fund equity is classified the same as in the 
government-wide statements.   

(n) Management Estimates 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted 
within the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the reported amount of revenues and 
expenditures/expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

(o) Future Accounting Pronouncements 
The Authority and its component unit will adopt the following new accounting pronouncements in 
future years, if applicable: 

 Statement No. 67, Financial Reporting for Pension Plans-an amendment of GASB Statement 
No. 25, effective for the Authority’s year ending June 30, 2014. 

 Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions-an amendment of GASB 
Statement No. 27, effective for the Authority’s year ending June 30, 2015. 

 Statement No. 69, Government Combinations and Disposals of Government Operations, 
effective for the Authority’s year ending June 30, 2015. 

 Statement No. 70, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Nonexchange Financial 
Guarantees, effective for the Authority’s year ending June 30, 2014. 
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Management is in the process of determining the effect, if any, that the adoption of these Statements 
will have on the Authority’s or its component unit’s financial position or the disclosures in its financial 
statements.   

(2) Budgetary Information 
The Authority does not adopt an annual budget since it is included in the State of Georgia’s budget as a 
one-line appropriation within the Department of Community Affairs budget under the Authority’s enabling 
legislation. However, the Authority’s management does utilize a budget for its General Fund to be used for 
financial analysis purposes throughout the year.  The Authority received a state appropriation of 
$50,100,000forfiscal year 2013which was collected in its entiretyand expended or obligated in general 
obligation bonds provided for the state and federal loan programs. 

(3) Deposits and Investments 
Deposits 

Custodial Credit Risk – Custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of bank failure, the Authority’s 
deposits may not be returned to it.  The Authority has a formal deposit policy with its selected custodian, or 
an agent acting on behalf of the custodian, for custodial credit risk as required by the State of Georgia which 
insures balances over the FDIC insurance at 110% of that overage.  The Authority’s bank balances of 
$5,304,001with a carrying value of $5,303,980at June 30, 2013 were entirely insured by FDIC insurance or 
collateralized by investment securities held by the Authority’s agent in the Authority’s name. 

Investments 

Credit Risk - Statutes authorize the Authority to invest in obligations of the State of Georgia, obligations of 
the U.S. Treasury and U.S. Agencies, certificates of deposit, repurchase agreements, reverse repurchase 
agreements, rate guarantee agreements, and State operated investment pools. The State operated 
investment pool is authorized to invest in the same types of securities. 

As shown below, the Authority’s investments at June 30, 2013 were categorized by credit risk as follows: 

 
Interest Rate Risk – Interest rate risk is associated with changes in interest rates that adversely affect an 
investment’s fair value.  Since the price of a bond fluctuates inversely with market interest rates, the price of 
the bond held in a portfolio will decline if market interest rates rise.  At June 30, 2013, interest rate risk is 
represented in the above table as “Maturities” for each investment classification.  The Authority’s Investment 
Policy has been developed around those policies set forth by the State of Georgia.  The Authority has 
structured its investment portfolio with investments having maturity dates at or prior to the time cash is 
prudently projected to be required to meet disbursement needs, thereby avoiding the need to sell securities 

Investment Rating Maturities Fair Value
Georgia Fund 1 AAAf 43-day WAM 712,153,089$      
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prior to their maturity.  This structure has been achieved by providing investments in the Georgia Fund 1.   
The Authority’s investment policy further outlines that the portfolio for investments in U.S. Treasuries and 
U.S. Agencies are limited to maturities with a maximum of five years from the date of purchase, although the 
Authority did not have any long-term investments at June 30, 2013. 

(4) Loans Receivable 
Loans receivable at June 30, 2013 are summarized as follows: 

 

At June 30, 2013, the Authority had commitments to fund projects, excluding the unfunded portion of loans in 
process, totaling $101,186,678.In accordance with certain loan programs, the Authority expensed a forgiven 
portion of loans in the amount of $1,837,341 in the Clean Water State Revolving Loan Fundand 
$5,242,940in the Drinking Water State Revolving Loan Fundduring fiscal year 2013.   

Additionally, the Authority provided a subsidized portion of loans in the amount of $826,249in the Drinking 
Water State Revolving Loan Fund and $206,562in the Drinking Water State Match Revolving Loan Fund.  As 
these amounts are expensed and forgiven or subsidized, they are not included in the unpaid principal 
balance above. 

Based on management’s evaluation of the loan portfolio, current economic factors, past payment history and 
other relevant factors, including the borrowers’ ability to repay and the Authority’s remedies to enforce 
repayment, a provision for potential loan losses has not been provided. Such remedies include the ability of 
the Authority to compel rate and fee increases and/or the full faith and credit pledge of the borrower to be 
used at the Authority’s discretion. 

Future Commitments 

The Authority has entered into contractual agreements to fund three Clean Water State Revolving Loan 
Fund loans with resources from the Georgia Fund in the amount of $40,995,874.  It is anticipated that 
balloon payments on these loans will become due in full between February 1, 2027 and February 1, 2028.  
The Authority plans to designate funds at a proportionate amount annually to accumulate adequate 
resources at the time the loans become payable to each of their respective funds beginning with fiscal year 
2013.  As of June 30, 2013, an amount of $2,928,277 has been accumulated for the purpose of satisfying 
this future obligation. 

 

Amount
Water and wastewater facility and conservation loans $ 1,400,005,537   
Undisbursed portion of loans in process (217,713,042)  

Unpaid principal balance $ 1,182,292,495   
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(5) Bonds Payable and Other Long-Term Liabilities 
Primary Government 

Compensated Absences: 

The Authority had $60,111 in additions to compensated absences representative of vacation pay earned by 
employees or addition of new staff and reductions of $204,805to compensated absences due to employee 
terminations or vacation hours used by employees.  Compensated absences are liquidated by those funds 
that have salary and wage expenditures, typically the General Fund.   

The Authority’s long-term liabilities activity for the year ended June 30, 2013, was as follows:  

 

Component Unit 

The Corporation issued two series of local government loan securitization bonds: CCMWA Loans (Series 
2011) issued on February 17, 2011 with a maturity date of February 15, 2036 and the Loan Pool (Series 
2011) issued on March 30, 2011 with a maturity date of March 15, 2031.  The proceeds of the sales of the 
Series 2011 Bonds were used to acquire certain local government loans from the Authority, to establish a 
debt service reserve, and to pay the costs of issuing the Series 2011 Bonds.  The Series 2011 Bonds are 
payable primarily from and secured primarily by a pledge of repayments on the local government loans to be 
received over the duration of the bonds’ maturity.   The bonds bear interest rates between .54 and 5.25%.   
The below table summarizes bonds payable outstanding: 

Balance Balance Amount due 
June 30, June 30, within 

Description 2012 Additions Reductions 2013 one year
Governmental activities
   Compensated absences $ 504,268   60,111   204,805   359,574   89,893  
Total Governmental activities $ 504,268   60,111   204,805   359,574   89,893  
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The Corporation has engaged the services of a trustee, Bank of New York Mellon, which is managing the 
debt service of the bonds.  As a condition of trustee services, the Corporation has on deposit adequate 
debt service reserves as stipulated by bond resolutions.  A portion of the cash with fiscal agent constitutes 
the debt service reserve.  As of June 30, 2013, the trustee had on hand for the CCMWA Loan, Series 
2011 and the Loan Pool, Series 2011 $520,987 and $7,968,750 respectively as the debt service reserve 
amounts.  These amounts are automatically adjusted and returned to the Corporation as principal amounts 
are proportionally reduced.   The balance of cash with fiscal agent, $9,220,287, was held by the trustee for 
the payment of principal and interest at their scheduled due dates. In addition to these requirements, the 
bond resolutions require other areas of compliance such as the filing of a monthly debt servicer’s report 
and the timely completion of an annual audit.  As of June 30, 2013, the Corporation believes it has 
complied with all of the necessary requirements of the bond issuances. Future debt service requirements 
are as follows: 

 

Original
issue Interest Carrying

amount rates value
CCMWA Loans, Series 2011 29,255,000$      .65 - 5.25% 27,755,000     
Less bond discount (204,170)         
Subtotal 27,550,830     

Loan Pool, Series 2011 202,755,000$    .54 - 5.125% 118,905,000   
Less bond discount (419,770)         
Subtotal 118,485,230   

Total bond series 146,660,000   
Less bond discount (623,940)         

Outstanding principal, June 30, 2013 146,036,060$ 

Total
Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest Due

Year ending June 30:
2014 755$          1,258         7,120          5,528          7,875          6,786          14,661       
2015 770            1,247         -                  5,510          770             6,757          7,527         
2016 790            1,231         -                  5,510          790             6,741          7,531         
2017 810            1,212         -                  5,510          810             6,722          7,532         
2018 835            1,190         -                  5,510          835             6,700          7,535         

Thereafter 23,795       16,144       111,785      59,485        135,580      75,629        211,209     
Total 27,755$     22,282       118,905      87,053        146,660      109,335      255,995     

CCMWA Loans, Series 2011 Loan Pool, Series 2011 Total
Future debt service requirements (in thousands)
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As a requirement of the Corporation’s issuances, any principal retired early by the local governments 
constitutes a mandatory redemption of principal on its outstanding debt.  Therefore, in fiscal year 2013, the 
Corporation retired $31,370,000 more than its anticipated retirement of debt.  The early retirement of debt by 
the Corporation is predicated on local governments’ decisions to pay off their outstanding debt and is 
undeterminable as of June 30, 2013 as well as any reduction in interest amounts to be paid.  Amounts due in 
2014 above include known prepayments subsequent to June 30, 2013 which will be paid in FY 2014.  Any 
reduced interest payments as a result of the early retirements of debt will be considered a cost savings to 
the Corporation and are not reflected in the above table. 

For the year ended June 30, 2013, the Corporation had the following activity within its long-term liabilities: 

 
The unamortized bond discounts for both issuances were deferred and amortized over the life of the bonds 
using the effective interest method. 

(6) Interfund Receivables, Payables and Transfers 
Interfund activity as of June 30, 2013, is as follows: 

Due from/to other funds: 

 

Amounts due
June 30, June 30, within

2012 Additions Reductions 2013 one year
CCMWA Loans, Series 2011 $ 28,505,000     -                      750,000             27,755,000     755,000             
Unamortized Bond Discount (209,368)         -                      (5,198)                (204,170)         -                         

Loan Pool, Series 2011 160,290,000   -                      41,385,000        118,905,000   7,120,000          
Unamortized Bond Discount (465,132)         -                      (45,362)              (419,770)         -                         
Total $ 188,120,500   -                      42,084,440        146,036,060   7,875,000          

Description

Receivable Fund Payable Fund Amount
General Fund Weatherization Assistance Program $            276,000 

Nonmajor governmental funds                9,784 
Georgia Fund         1,017,309 
Clean Water State Match Revolving Loan Fund            378,388 
Nonmajor enterprise funds              40,606 

Nonmajor governmental funds General Fund            533,332 
Nonmajor governmental funds              56,787 
Georgia Fund                2,165 

Georgia Fund Clean Water State Revolving Loan Fund         1,551,698 
Clean Water State Revolving Loan Fund General Fund              14,230 
Drinking Water State Revolving Loan Fund General Fund                6,529 
Drinking Water State Match Revolving Loan Fund General Fund            615,537 
Total $         4,502,365 
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The outstanding balances between funds result mainly from the time lag between the dates that (1) Interfund 
goods and services are provided or reimbursable expenditures occur, (2) transactions are recorded in the 
accounting system, and (3) payments between funds are made. Any residual balances outstanding between 
the governmental activities and the business-type activities are reported in the government-wide financial 
statements as “internal balances”. 

Interfund transfers: 

 
Transfers are used to (1) move revenues from the fund that statute or budget requires to collect them to the 
fund that statute or budget requires to expend them or (2) use unrestricted revenues collected in the General 
Fund to finance various programs accounted for in other funds in accordance with budgetary operations, 
including amounts provided as matching funds for various grant and loan programs. 
In addition, for loan activity originally funded with ARRA funds in the ARRA-Clean Water State Revolving 
Loan Fund or the ARRA-Drinking Water State Revolving Loan Fund, EPA has not imposed any 
requirements that loans originated by these activities should permanently remain within its original 
accounting fund established solely as a requirement to segregate monies from the Authority’s other funds.  
As such, when loans are closed and placed into a permanent repayment status, they are transferred into 
their corresponding federal program, the Clean Water State Revolving Loan Fund or the Drinking Water 
State Revolving Loan.  

Transfers-in Fund Transfers-out Fund Amount
General Fund Nonmajor governmental funds $ 31,421              

Georgia Fund 5,348,180         
Nonmajor enterprise funds 443,679            

Nonmajor governmental funds Nonmajor governmental funds 5,970                
Georgia Fund 77,823              

Weatherization Assistance Program Nonmajor governmental funds 14,549              
Clean Water State Revolving Loan Fund Clean Water State Match Revolving Loan Fund 6,233,734         
Nonmajor enterprise funds Clean Water State Revolving Loan Fund 6,791,238         
Clean Water State Match Revolving Loan Fund General Fund 8,824,959         
Drinking Water State Revolving Loan Fund Drinking Water State Match Revolving Loan Fund 2,231,219         
Drinking Water State Match Revolving Loan General Fund 5,389,462         
Total $ 35,392,234       
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(7) Capital Assets 
The Authority’s capital asset activity for the year ended June 30, 2013 was as follows: 

 

Depreciation expense of $10,606 was charged to the general government function. 

(8) Retirement Plans 
The Authority participates in various retirement plans administered by the State of Georgia under two major 
retirement systems:  Employees’ Retirement System of Georgia (the System) and Teachers Retirement 
System of Georgia (TRS). These two systems issue separate, publicly available financial reports that include 
the applicable financial statements and required supplementary information.  The reports may be obtained 
from the respective system offices.  The significant retirement plans that the Authority participates in are 
described below.  More detailed information can be found in the plan agreements and related legislation.  
Eachplan, including benefit and contribution provisions, was established and can be amended by State 
law.Both systems cover all employees who elect to participate in the plan; participation in which is solely 
voluntary.  The payroll for employees, who have the option to be covered by one of the retirement systems, 
and the total payroll of the Authority, was $3,085,566 for the year ended June 30, 2013. 

Employees’ Retirement System of Georgia 

The ERS System is comprised of individual retirement systems and plans covering substantially all 
employees of the State of Georgia except for teachers and other employees covered by the Teachers 
Retirement System of Georgia.  One of the ERS System plans, the Employees’ Retirement System of 
Georgia (ERS), is a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan that was established by the 
Georgia General Assembly during the 1949 Legislative Session for the purpose of providing retirement 
allowances for employees of the State of Georgia and its political subdivisions.  ERS is directed by a Board 
of Trustees and has the powers and privileges of a corporation.  ERS acts pursuant to statutory direction 
and guidelines, which may be amended prospectively for new hires but for existing members and 
beneficiaries may be amended in some aspects only subject to potential application of certain constitutional 
restraints against impairment of contract. 

Balance Balance
June 30, June 30, 

Asset category 2012 Additions Deletions 2013
Cost:

Computer equipment $ 194,957   —   —   194,957  
Total cost 194,957   —   —   194,957  

Accumulated depreciation:
Computer equipment 159,633   10,606   —   170,239  

Total accumulated 
depreciation 159,633   10,606   —   170,239  

Total net capital assets $ 35,324   10,606   —   24,718  
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On November 20, 1997, the Board created the Supplemental Retirement Benefit Plan (SRBP-ERS) of ERS.  
SRBP-ERS was established as a qualified governmental excess benefit plan in accordance with Section 415 
of the Internal Revenue Code (IRC) as a portion of ERS.  The purpose of the SRBP-ERS is to provide 
retirement benefits to employees covered by ERS whose benefits are otherwise limited by IRC Section 415.  
Beginning January 1, 1998, all members and retired former members in ERS are eligible to participate in the 
SRBP-ERS whenever their benefits under ERS exceed the limitation on benefits imposed by IRC Section 
415. 

The benefit structure of ERS is established by the Board of Trustees under statutory guidelines.  Unless the 
employee elects otherwise, an employee who currently maintains membership with ERS based upon State 
employment that started prior to July 1, 1982, is an “old plan” member subject to the plan provisions in effect 
prior to July 1, 1982.  Members hired on or after July 1, 1982 but prior to January 1, 2009 are “new plan” 
members subject to the modified plan provisions.  Effective January 1, 2009, newly hired State employees, 
as well as rehired State employees who did not maintain eligibility for the “old” or “new” plan, are members 
of the Georgia State Employees’ Pension and Savings Plan (GSEPS). Members of the GSEPS plan may 
also participate in the GSEPS 401(k) defined contribution component described below.  ERS members hired 
prior to January 1, 2009 also have the option to irrevocably change their membership to the GSEPS plan. 

Under the old plan, new plan, and GSEPS, a member may retire and receive normal retirement benefits 
after completion of 10 years of creditable service and attainment of age 60 or 30 years of creditable service 
regardless of age.  Additionally, there are some provisions allowing for early retirement after 25 years of 
creditable service for members under age 60.   

Retirement benefits paid to members are based upon a formula adopted by the Board of Trustees for such 
purpose. The formula considers the monthly average of the member’s highest 24 consecutive calendar 
months of salary, the number of years of creditable service, and the member’s age at retirement.  Post-
retirement cost-of-living adjustments may be made to members’ benefits provided the members were hired 
prior to July 1, 2009.  The normal retirement pension is payable monthly for life; however, options are 
available for distribution of the member’s monthly pension, at reduced rates, to a designated beneficiary 
upon the member’s death.  Death and disability benefits are also available through ERS. 

Member contribution rates are set by law.  Member contributions under the old plan are 4% of annual 
compensation up to $4,200 plus 6% of annual compensation in excess of $4,200.  Under the old plan, the 
Authority pays member contributions in excess of 1.25% of annual compensation.  Under the old plan, these 
Authority contributions are included in the members’ accounts for refund purposes and are used in the 
computation of the members’ earnable compensation for the purpose of computing retirement benefits.  
Member contributions under the new plan and GSEPS are 1.25% of annual compensation.  The Authority is 
required to contribute at a specified percentage of active member payroll established by the Board of 
Trustees determined annually in accordance with actuarial valuation and minimum funding standards as 
provided by law.  These Authority contributions are not at any time refundable to the member or his/her 
beneficiary. 
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Employer contribution rates required for fiscal year 2013 werebased on the June 30, 2010 actuarial valuation 
as follows:  14.90% (10.15% exclusive of contributions paid by the State on behalf of old plan members) [Old 
Plan], 14.90% [New Plan], and 11.54% [GSEPS].  The Authority’s total employer contribution requirement as 
determined by the actuarial valuation equals its annual pension cost.  The annual required contribution 
(ARC) and annual pension cost (APC), as determined by GASB statement No. 27, for the current year and 
each of the two preceding years are summarized in the table below.  Please note costs were adjusted to 
segregate GSEPS portions originally reported as ERS contributions for fiscal years 2012 and 2011: 

 

Members become vested after 10 years of service.  Upon termination of employment, member contributions 
with accumulated interest are refundable upon request by the member.  However, if an otherwise vested 
member terminates and withdraws his/her member contributions; the member forfeits all rights to retirement 
benefits. 

Historical trend information showing the ERS System’s progress in accumulating sufficient assets to pay 
benefits when due is presented in the ERS System’s annual report which can be obtained from the following 
address: Employees’ Retirement System of Georgia, Two Northside 75, Suite 300 Atlanta, Georgia 30318-
7778. 

Teachers Retirement System of Georgia 

The TRS is a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit plan created in 1943 by an act of the Georgia 
General Assembly to provide retirement benefits for qualifying employees in educational service.  A Board of 
Trustees comprised of two appointees by the Board, two ex-officio State employees, five appointees by the 
Governor, and one appointee of the Board of Regents is ultimately responsible for the administration of TRS. 

On October 25, 1996, the Board created the Supplemental Retirement Benefit Plan of the Georgia Teachers 
(SRBP-TRS).  SRBP-TRS was established as a qualified governmental excess benefit plan in accordance 
with Section 415 of the IRC as a portion of TRS.  The purpose of SRBP-TRS is to provide retirement 
benefits to employees covered by TRS whose benefits are otherwise limited by IRC Section 415.  Beginning 
July 1, 1997, all members and retired former members in TRS are eligible to participate in the SRBP-TRS 
whenever their benefits under TRS exceed the IRC Section 415 imposed limitation on benefits. 

 

TRS provides service retirement, disability retirement, and survivor’s benefits.  The benefit structure of TRS 
is defined and may be amended by State statute.  A member is eligible for normal service retirement after 30 

Annual
Required % of

Contribution ARC
Year (ARC) contributed

$ 355,417    100%    
272,936    100%    
279,675    100%    

2013
2012
2011
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years of creditable service, regardless of age, or after 10 years of service and attainment of age 60.  A 
member is eligible for early retirement after 25 years of creditable service. 

Normal retirement (pension) benefits paid to members are equal to 2% of the average of the member’s two 
highest paid consecutive years of service, multiplied by the number of years of creditable service up to 40 
years.  Early retirement benefits are reduced by the lesser of one-twelfth of 7% for each month the member 
is below age 60 or by 7% for each year or fraction thereof by which the member has less than 30 years of 
service.  It is also assumed that certain cost-of-living adjustments, based on the Consumer Price Index, may 
be made in future years.  Retirement benefits are payable monthly for life.  A member may elect to receive a 
partial lump-sum distribution in addition to a reduced monthly retirement benefit.  Options are available for 
distribution of the member’s monthly pension, at a reduced rate, to a designated beneficiary on the 
member’s death.  Death, disability and spousal benefits are also available. 

TRS is funded by member and employer contributions as adopted and amended by the Board of Trustees.  
Members become fully vested after 10 years of service.  If a member terminates with less than 10 years of 
service, no vesting of employer contributions occurs, but the member’s contributions may be refunded with 
interest.  Member contributions are limited by State law to not less than 5% or more than 6% of a member’s 
earnable compensation.  

Member contributions as adopted by the Board of Trustees for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013, were 
6.00% of annual salary.  Employer contributions required for fiscal year 2013 were 11.41% of annual salary 
as required by the June 30, 2010, actuarial valuation.The annual required contribution (ARC) and annual 
pension cost (APC), as determined by GASB statement No. 27, for the current year isreported in the table 
below.   

 

GSEPS 401(k) Defined Contribution Component 

In addition to the ERS defined benefit pension described above, GSEPS members may also participate in 
the Peach State Reserves 401(k) defined contribution plan and receive an employer matching contribution.  
The 401(k) plan is administered by the ERS System and was established by the State of Georgia Employee 
Benefit Plan Council in accordance with State law and Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. The 
GSEPS segment of the 401(k) plan was established by State law effective January 1, 2009.  Plan provisions 
and contribution requirements specific to GSEPS can be amended by State law. Other general 401(k) plan 
provisions can be amended by the ERS Board of Trustees as required by changes in Federal tax law or for 
administrative purposes. The State was not required to make significant contributions to the 401(k) plan prior 
to GSEPS because most members under other segments of the plan either were not State employees or 
were not eligible to receive an employer match on their contributions. 

Annual
Required % of

Contribution ARC
Year (ARC) contributed

$ 726    100%    2013
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The GSEPS plan includes automatic enrollment in the 401(k) plan at a contribution rate of 1% of salary, 
along with a matching contribution from the State.  The State will match 100% of the employee’s initial 1% 
contribution.  Employees can elect to contribute up to an additional 4% and the State will match 50% of the 
additional 4% of salary.  Therefore, the State will match 3% against the employee’s 5% total savings.  
Contributions greater than 5% do not receive any matching funds. 

GSEPS employer contributions are subject to a vesting schedule, which determines eligibility to receive all or 
a portion of the employer contribution balance at the time of any distribution from the account after 
separation from all State service. Vesting is determined based on the following schedule: 

Less than 1 year 0% 

1 year 20% 

2 years 40% 

3 years 60% 

4 years 80% 

5 or more years 100% 

Employee contributions and earnings thereon are 100% vested at all times.  The 401(k) plan also allows 
participants to roll over amounts from other qualified plans to their respective account in the 401(k) plan on 
approval of the 401(k) plan administrator.  Such rollovers are 100% vested at the time of transfer.  
Participant contributions are invested according to the participant’s investment election.  If the participant 
does not make an election, investments are automatically defaulted to a Lifecycle fund based on the 
participant’s date of birth. 

The participants may receive the value of their vested accounts upon attaining age 59.5, qualifying financial 
hardship, or retirement or other termination of service (employer contribution balances are only eligible for 
distribution upon separation from service).  Upon the death of a participant, his or her beneficiary shall be 
entitled to the vested value of his or her accounts.  Distributions are made in installments or in a lump sum. 

The Authority’s employer and employee GSEPS contributions for the year ending June 30, 2013, 2012 and 
2011 are reported in the table below: 

 

Annual Annual
Employer Employee

Year Contribution Contribution
$ 113,812    $ 55,346   

100,390    47,993   
93,844    47,946   

2013
2012
2011

(continued)
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(9) Other Post-employment Benefits 
The Authority participates in two State of Georgia other post-employment benefit plans, the Georgia State 
Employees’ Post-employment Health Benefit Fund (administered by the Department of Community Health) 
and the State Employees’ Assurance Department – OPEB (administered by the ERS System).  Separate 
financial reports that include the applicable financial statements and required supplementary information 
for these plans are publicly available and may be obtained from the respective system offices. 

Georgia State Employees Post-employment Health Benefit Fund 

The Georgia State Employees Post-employment Health Benefit Fund (State OPEB Fund) is a cost-sharing 
multiple-employer defined benefit postemployment healthcare plan that covers eligible former employees 
of State organizations (including technical colleges) and other entities authorized by law to contract with 
the Department of Community Health for inclusion in the plan.  The State OPEB Fund provides post-
employment health insurance benefits to eligible former employees and their qualified beneficiaries 
through the health insurance plan for State employees.  The Official Code of Georgia Annotated (OCGA) 
assigns the authority to establish and amend the benefit provisions of the group health plans, including 
benefits for retirees, to the Board of Community Health (Board). 

The plan is currently funded on a pay-as-you go basis. That is, annual costs of providing benefits will be 
financed in the same year as claims occur, with no significant assets accumulating as would occur in an 
advance funding strategy. 

The contribution requirements of plan members and participating employers are established by the Board 
in accordance with the current Appropriations Act and may be amended by the Board.  Contributions of 
plan members or beneficiaries receiving benefits vary based on plan election, dependent coverage, and 
Medicare eligibility and election.  On average, plan members pay approximately 25 percent of the cost of 
the health insurance coverage.In accordance with the Board resolution dated December 8, 2011, for 
members with fewer than five years of service as of January 1, 2012, the State provides a premium 
subsidy in retirement that ranges from 0% for fewer than 10 years of service to 75% (but no greater than 
the subsidy percentage offered to active employees) for 30 or more years of service.  The subsidy for 
eligible dependents ranges from 0% to 55% (but no greater than the subsidy percentage offered to 
dependents of active employees minus 20%).  No subsidy is available to Medicare eligible members not 
enrolled in a Medicare Advantage Option.  The Board of Community Health sets all member premiums by 
resolution and in accordance with the law and applicable revenue and expense projections.  Any subsidy 
policy adopted by the Board may be changed at any time by Board resolution and does not constitute a 
contract or promise of any amount of subsidy. 

Participating employers are statutorily required to contribute in accordance with the employer contribution 
rates established by the Board.  The contribution rates are established to fund all benefits due under the 
health insurance plans for both active and retired employees based on projected “pay-as-you-go” financing 
requirements.  Contributions are not based on the actuarially calculated annual required contribution 
(ARC) which represents a level of funding that, if paid on an ongoing basis, is projected to cover normal 

(continued)
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cost each year and amortize any unfunded actuarial liabilities (or funding excess) over a period not to 
exceed thirty years.   

The combined active and retiree contribution rates established by the Board for employers participating in 
the State OPEB Fund were as follows for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013: 

 

No additional contribution was required by the Board for fiscal year 2013nor contributed to the State OPEB 
Fund to prefund retiree benefits.  Such additional contribution amounts are determined annually by the 
Board in accordance with the State plan for other postemployment benefits and are subject to 
appropriation. 

The following table summarizes the Authority’s contributions to the health insurance plans for the years 
ending June 30, 2013, 2012 and 2011: 

 

State Employees’ Assurance Department (SEAD) 

SEAD-OPEB and SEAD-Active are cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit postemployment plans 
that were created in fiscal year 2007 by the Georgia General Assembly to provide term life insurance to 
eligible members of the ERS, Georgia Judicial Retirement System (JRS), and Legislative Retirement 
System (LRS). SEAD-OPEB provides benefits for retired and vested inactive members, and SEAD-Active 
provides benefits for active members.  Effective July 1, 2009, no newly hired members of any State public 
retirement system are eligible for term life insurance under SEAD.  Pursuant to Title 47 of the OCGA, 
benefit provisions of the plans were established and can be amended by State statute. 

Contributions by plan members are established by the ERS Board of Trustees, up to the maximum 
allowed by statute (not to exceed 0.5% of earnable compensation).  The ERS Board of Trustees 
establishes employer contribution rates, such rates which, when added to members’ contributions, shall 
not exceed 1% of earnable compensation.  Contributions for fiscal year 2013 were based on June 30, 
2010, actuarial valuations as follows:  

Required
Contribution

Months Paid (Coverage Periods) Rate
June 2012 (July 2012) 27.523%
July -December 2012 (August 2012 - January 2013) 35.000%
January 2013 - February 2013 (February - March 2013) 24.454%
March - June 2013 (April - July 2013) 25.366%

Required %
Year Contribution contributed

$ 919,637    100%    
970,839    100%    
866,306    100%    

2013
2012
2011

(continued)
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The ERS Board of Trustees voted and approved that the SEAD-OPEB contribution would be paid from 
existing assets of the Survivors Benefit Fund (SBF) instead of requiring payment by the employers.  The 
contributions by SBF made on-behalf of the Authority for fiscal years 2013 and 2012 were estimated to be 
$6.0 thousand and $14.9 thousand, respectively.  There were no required employer contributions for the 
fiscal year ended June 30, 2011.  

According to the policy terms covering the lives of members, insurance coverage is provided on a monthly, 
renewable term basis, and no return premiums or cash value are earned.  The net position represents the 
excess accumulation of investment income and premiums over benefit payments and expenses and is 
held as a reserve for payment of death benefits under existing policies. 

(10)   Lease Commitments 
The Authority is obligated under certain noncancelable operating leases for office space.The following is a 
schedule of future minimum lease payments by year required under these leases as of June 30, 2013: 

 

Total expensesfor rental of office space for the year ended June 30, 2013 were $398,016.  The Authority is 
in the process of renegotiating lease terms and office space as it plans for additional personnel to support its 
loan programs.  Because of this planned change, future lease payments may alter the amounts reflected in 
this schedule.   

Year ending
June 30 Amount

2014 $ 407,917   
2015 418,131   
2016 211,671   
Total $ 1,037,719   

(continued)
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(11)  Contingencies and Commitments on Liabilities & Violations of Finance-Related Legal or Contractual 
Provisions 
Amounts received or receivable from grant agencies are subject to audit and adjustment by grantor 
agencies, principally the federal government. Any disallowed claims, including amounts already collected, 
may constitute a liability of the applicable funds. The amount, if any, of expenditures which may be 
disallowed by the grantor cannot be determined at this time although the Authority expects such amounts, if 
any, to be immaterial. 

The Authority reviews all outstanding claims and judgments to determine if any estimated liabilities should 
be accrued at year-end.  Based on management’s past experience of the review of claims and judgments, it 
has been determined that therewere no material claims and judgments outstanding at June 30, 2013.  In 
addition, management believes there were no material violations of finance-related legal or contractual 
provisions by the Authority during the current fiscal year. 

(12)  Change in Accounting Principle and Policy 
Effective July 1, 2012, the Authority and the Georgia Environmental Loan Acquisition Corporation, the 
Authority’s discretely presented component unit, implemented two new accounting pronouncements: GASB 
Statement No. 63, Financial Reporting of Deferred Outflows of Resources, Deferred Inflows of Resources, 
and Net Position, and Statement No. 65, Items Previously Reported as Assets and Liabilities.  One of the 
most significant changes from these new standards is that bond issuance costs should now be expensed as 
incurred, whereas under previous standards these costs had been reported as an asset and amortized over 
the life of the related bonds.  As a result of implementation of these standards, the net position of the 
Corporation, as of July 1, 2012 has been restated to exclude the unamortized portion of bond issuance 
costs.  The amount of bond issuance costs, which does not include charges for bond insurance, totaled 
$3,575,434 and therefore beginning net position of the Corporation has been reduced by this amount.  
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Nonmajor Governmental Funds 

 
Special Revenue Funds 

  

Special revenue funds are used to account for the proceeds of specific revenue sources that are legally 
restricted for specified purposes. 

State Energy Program Fund 
This fund is used to account for the Authority’s grants to other government agencies for projects working on 
the development of alternative sources of energy. Financing is provided through federal grants and 
petroleum violation fees. 

Energy Investments Fund 
This fund is used to account for the Authority’s monies from previous years required to be used in each of 
the other energy related special revenue funds. Financing is provided through interest income on 
investments held by the Authority from collections of petroleum violation fees and public utility contributions 
in previous years. 

ARRA-State Energy Program Fund  

This fund is used to account for the Authority’s grants restricted to state agencies, local governments and 
nonprofit entities for a variety of energy efficiency and renewable energy projects. This program is funded by 
Federal grants related to the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act (ARRA) from the U.S. Department 
of Energy. 

ARRA-Energy Efficiency Conservation Block Grant Fund  

This fund is used to account for the Authority’s grants restricted to local governments, private businesses 
and nonprofit entities for a variety of energy efficiency and renewable energy projects. This program is 
funded by Federal grants related to the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act (ARRA) from the U.S. 
Department of Energy. 

ARRA – Miscellaneous Grants Fund 

This fund is used to account for the Authority’s grants to provide rebates to consumers for the upgrade of 
energy efficient appliances and for small grants to universities for research in industrial energy efficiency 
modifications.  These programsare funded by Federal grants related to the American Recovery and 
Reinvestment Act (ARRA) from the U.S. Department of Energy. 

State Land Conservation Fund 
This fund is used to account for money awarded to recipients of funding to permanently protect land and 
water, or interests therein, that is undeveloped, natural state or that has been developed only to an extent 
that does not interfere with its conservation value.  Original funding for these types of projects will be derived 
from state and private contributions restricted for these purposes. 

(continued)
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Special Revenue Funds 

  

Clean Water SRF Administration Fund 
This fund is used to account for assets held by the Authority for the future administration of the Clean Water 
State Revolving Loan Fund program. The assets were collected from loan origination fees and are to be 
used to administer the monitoring of projects funded by loans to local governments for waste water 
treatment plants. 

Drinking Water SRF State Program Setasides Fund 

This fund is used to account for the Authority’s “set-aside” grants used for various safe drinking water 
projects. Financing is provided through the Federal Drinking Water capitalization grant.  States are allowed 
to use 10% of their capitalization grants to provide funding for certain activities that provide assistance to 
state programs such as administration of the Public Water Supervision Program (the “PWSS”). 

Drinking Water SRF Small PWS Technical Assistance Fund 

This fund is used to account for the Authority’s “set-aside” grants used for various safe drinking water 
projects. Financing is provided through the Federal Drinking Water capitalization grant. States may provide 
assistance, including technical assistance, to public water systems as part of a capacity development 
strategy under Section 1420 (c) of the Act.  States may use up to 2% of the capitalization grant amount for 
these activities.  This fund accounts for technical assistance to smaller communities only. 

Drinking Water SRF Administration Fund 
This fund is used to account for assets held by the Authority for the future administration of the Drinking 
Water State Revolving Loan Fund program. The assets were collected from loan origination fees and are to 
be used to administer the monitoring of projects funded by loans to local governments for water supply 
projects. 
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GEORGIA ENVIRONMENTAL FINANCE AUTHORITY 
(A Component Unit of the State of Georgia) 

 
Nonmajor Proprietary Funds 

 
Enterprise Funds 

Enterprise funds are used to account for operations that are financed and operated in a manner similar to 
private business enterprises – where the intent of the Authority is that the cost of providing services to the 
general public on a continuing basis be financed or recovered primarily through user charges, or where the 
Authority has decided that periodic determination of net income is appropriate for accountability purposes. 

The following are nonmajor enterprise funds maintained by the Authority: 

Storage Tank Maintenance Fund 

This fund is used to account for activities and monies associated with collection of fees charged state 
agencies for the ongoing preventative maintenance of fuel storage facilities. In addition, funding passed 
through the Georgia State Financing and Investment Commission for the removal or upgrading of the same 
such facilities. Its revenues are derived from the direct funding as mentioned and interest earnings on 
investments.   

ARRA-Clean Water State Revolving Loan Fund  

This fund is used to account for loans to local governments for wastewater treatment projects. The original 
funding for these loans is provided through federal capitalization grants under ARRA. The fund’s revenues 
are also derived from interest income on loans receivable. 
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STATISTICAL SECTION



GEORGIA ENVIRONMENTAL FINANCE AUTHORITY 
Statistical Section 

             
                          
This part of the Georgia Environmental Finance Authority's comprehensive annual financial report presents detailed 
information as a context for understanding what the information in the financial statements, note disclosures, and 
required supplementary information says about the Authority's overall financial health.  This information has not been 
audited by the independent auditor. 
             
Contents           Page 
             
             
Financial Trends            
             

 
These schedules contain trend information to help the reader understand how the 
Authority's financial performance and well-being have    

 changed over time.           58-64 
             
             
Revenue Capacity            
             

 
These schedules contain information to help the reader assess the Authority's most 
significant own-source revenue, interest income on   

 loans receivable.           65-67 
             
             
Debt Capacity            
             

 
This schedule presents information to help the reader assess the affordability of the 
Authority's current levels of outstanding debt and the    

 Authority's ability to issue additional debt in the future.          68 
             
             
Demographic and Economic Information           
             

 
This schedule offers demographic and economic indicators to help the reader understand 
the environment within which the Authority's   

 
financial activities take place for its most significant programs, the 
environmental loan programs.      69 

             
             
Operating Information            
             

 
Theses schedules contain information about the Authority's operations and resources to 
help the reader understand how the Authority's    

 
financial information relates to the services the Authority provides and the 
activities it performs.      70-72 

             
             
Sources            
             

 
Unless otherwise noted, the information in these schedules is derived from the 
comprehensive annual financial reports for the relevant year.     
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SINGLE AUDIT SECTION



GEORGIA ENVIRONMENTAL FINANCE AUTHORITY
(A Component Unit of the State of Georgia)

Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards

Year Ended June 30, 2013

Pass-through

CFDA Award/ Federal

Federal Grantor/Program Title number Contract Number expenditures

U.S. Department of Energy:

   Direct programs:

     State Energy Program 81.041 DE-EE0004521 $ 773,128        

     ARRA-State Energy Program 81.041 DE-EE0000225 799,250        

        Total State Energy Program 1,572,378     

     Weatherization Assistance for Low-Income Persons 81.042 NT43106 786,071        

     ARRA-Weatherization Assistance for Low-Income Persons 81.042 DE-EE0000109 10,465,631   

        Total Weatherization Assistance for Low-Income Persons 11,251,702   

     Energy Efficiency and Renewable Energy Information Dissemination, Outreach, Training  and 

Technical Analysis/Assistance 81.117 DE-EE0000345 96,077          

     ARRA-Electricity Delivery and Energy Reliability, Research, Development and Analysis 81.122 DE-OE0000081 54,092          

     ARRA-Energy Efficiency and Conservation Block Grant (EECBG) 81.128 DE-EE0000806 247,342        

               Total U.S. Department of Energy 13,221,591   

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services:

   Pass-through programs - State of Georgia Department of

     Human Resources:

          Low-Income Home Energy Assistance Program 93.568 42700-040-0000012821 5,671,186     

          Low-Income Home Energy Assistance Program 93.568 42700-040-0000020903 73,181          

               Total U.S. Department of Health and Human Services 5,744,367     

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency:

   Direct programs:

     State Revolving Funds (Clean Water) 66.458 CS13000111 14,105,296   

     State Revolving Funds (Clean Water) 66.458 CS13000112 23,896,000   

     State Revolving Funds (Clean Water) 66.458 CS13000113 6,123,500     

        Total State Revolving Funds (Clean Water) 44,124,796   

     State Revolving Funds (Drinking Water) 66.468 FS-98409909 708,117        

     State Revolving Funds (Drinking Water) 66.468 FS-98409910 12,142,967   

     State Revolving Funds (Drinking Water) 66.468 FS-98409911 13,613,206   

     State Revolving Funds (Drinking Water) 66.468 FS-98409912 483,018        

        Total State Revolving Funds (Drinking Water) 26,947,308   

               Total U.S. Environmental Protection Agency 71,072,104   

               Total Federal Expenditures $ 90,038,062   

See accompanying notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards.
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GEORGIA ENVIRONMENTAL FINANCE AUTHORITY 
(A Component Unit of the State of Georgia) 

 
Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 

 
June 30, 2013 

 

 
(1) General 

The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards presents the activity of all Federal 
financial assistance programs of the Georgia Environmental Finance Authority (the Authority). The 
Authority receives pass-through financial assistance from the Georgia Department of Human Services.  

(2) Reporting Entity 
The authoritative criteria for determining the programs, organizations, and functions of government 
included in the financial statements of the Authority are as follows: oversight responsibility, including 
selection of governing authority, designation of management, and  ability to significantly influence 
operations; accountability for fiscal matters, including budget, surplus/deficit, debt, fiscal management, and 
revenue characteristics; scope of public services; and special financing relationships. 

Based on above criteria, the State Energy Conservation Program, the Weatherization Assistance for Low-
income Persons, Low-Income Home Energy Assistance, Energy Efficiency & Conservation Programs and 
State Revolving Funds are included in the Authority’s reporting entity. 

(3) Basis of Accounting 
The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards is presented using the modified accrual 
basis of accounting. The information in this schedule is presented in accordance with the requirements of 
OMB Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local  Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations. Due to 
differences  in the recording of loan disbursements between the requirements, some amounts 
presented in this schedule may differ from amounts presented in, or used in the preparation of, the 
financial statements. 

(4) Loans Receivable 
At June 30, 2013, the Authority had $682,952,131 in loans receivable outstanding, which were originally 
funded by the State Revolving Funds (Clean Water) Program and $108,573,340 in loans receivable 
outstanding, which were originally funded by the State Revolving Funds (Drinking Water) Program.  Both 
amounts are inclusive of original funding under the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 and 
subsequently transferred to their respective base federal program. 

(5) Subrecipients 

Of the Federal expenditures presented in the Schedule, the Authority provided Federal awards to 
subrecipients as follows: 
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GEORGIA ENVIRONMENTAL FINANCE AUTHORITY 
(A Component Unit of the State of Georgia) 

 
Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 

 
June 30, 2013 

 

 
 
 

 

Federal Amount
CFDA provided to

Program Title number subrecipients

State Energy Program 81.041 67,997            
Weatherization Assistance for Low-Income Persons 81.042 679,242          
     Energy Efficiency and Renewable Energy Information Dissemination, Outreach, Training 
and Technical Analysis/Assistance 81.117 96,077            
Low-Income Home Energy Assistance Program 93.568 5,377,473       
State Revolving Funds (Clean Water) 66.458 42,457,942     
State Revolving Funds (Drinking Water) 66.468 25,914,343     

Direct and pass-through programs under the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009:

ARRA-State Energy Program 81.041 656,987          
ARRA-Weatherization Assistance for Low-Income Persons 81.042 9,656,934       
ARRA-Electricity Delivery and Energy Reliability, Research, Development and Analysis 81.122 20,893            
ARRA-Energy Efficiency and Conservation Block Grant (EECBG) 81.128 48,330            
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER 
FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS 

BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

 

 

The Members of the  

Georgia Environmental Finance Authority  

Atlanta, Georgia 

 

 We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental 
activities, the business-type activities, the discretely presented component unit, each major fund, and the 
aggregate remaining fund information of the Georgia Environmental Finance Authority (the “Authority”) as 
of and for the year ended June 30, 2013, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively 
comprise the Authority’s basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated September 26, 
2013.  Our report includes a reference to the implementation of new accounting standards which modified 
terminology and presentation of certain accounts and changed the accounting for bond issuance costs. 

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

 In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Authority’s 
internal control over financial reporting (“internal control”) to determine the audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control.  
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control. 

 A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect 
and correct, misstatements on a timely basis.  A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of 
deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the 
entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis.  A significant 
deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a 
material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.   

 Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of 
this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies.  Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses.  However, material weaknesses 
may exist that have not been identified.      
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Compliance and Other Matters 

 As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Authority’s financial statements are free 
from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the 
determination of financial statement amounts.  However, providing an opinion on compliance with those 
provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.  The results 
of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under 
Government Auditing Standards. 

Purpose of this Report 

 The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s 
internal control or on compliance.  This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and compliance.  Accordingly, this 
communication is not suitable for any other purpose.   

 
 
Atlanta, Georgia 
September 26, 2013 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR  
EACH MAJOR FEDERAL PROGRAM AND REPORT ON  

INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE  
REQUIRED BY OMB CIRCULAR A-133 

 

 
The Members of the  

Georgia Environmental Finance Authority  

Atlanta, Georgia 

 

 
Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program 

 We have audited the Georgia Environmental Finance Authority’s (the “Authority”) compliance with 
the types of compliance requirements described in the OMB Circular A-133 Compliance Supplement that could 
have a direct and material effect on each of the Authority’s major federal programs for the year ended June 30, 
2013.  The Authority’s major federal programs are identified in the summary of auditor’s results section of the 
accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs.   

Management’s Responsibility 

 Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements of laws, regulations, contracts, and 
grants applicable to its federal programs.   

Auditor’s Responsibility 

 Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for each of the Authority’s major federal 
programs based on our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above. We conducted our 
audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America; 
the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States; and OMB Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local Governments, and 
Non-Profit Organizations.  Those standards and OMB Circular A-133 require that we plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance with the types of compliance requirements 
referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on a major federal program occurred.  An audit 
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about the Authority’s compliance with those requirements and 
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances.  

 We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each major 
federal program.  However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of the Authority’s compliance.  
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Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 

 In our opinion, the Authority complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance 
requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major federal 
programs for the year ended June 30, 2013.     

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance 

 Management of the Authority is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control 
over compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above.  In planning and performing our 
audit of compliance, we considered the Authority’s internal control over compliance with the types of 
requirements that could have a direct and material effect on each major federal program to determine the 
auditing procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
compliance  for each major federal program and to test and report on internal control over compliance in 
accordance with OMB Circular A-133, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
internal control over compliance.  Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Authority’s internal control over compliance. 

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over 
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned 
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal 
program on a timely basis.  A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that 
material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program will not be prevented, or 
detected and corrected, on a timely basis.  A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a 
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance 
requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control over 
compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.  

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first 
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over compliance 
that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. We did not identify any deficiencies in internal 
control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses.  However, material weaknesses may 
exist that have not been identified.   

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our 
testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of OMB 
Circular A-133.  Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose. 

 

 
 
 

Atlanta, Georgia 

September 26, 2013 
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GEORGIA ENVIRONMENTAL FINANCE AUTHORITY 
 

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2013 

 
 

SECTION I 

SUMMARY OF AUDITOR’S RESULTS 

Financial Statements 

Type of auditor’s report issued    Unmodified 

 

Internal control over financial reporting: 

Material weaknesses identified?    ____ yes    __X__ no 

 

Significant deficiencies identified not considered 

  to be material weaknesses?    ____ yes    __X__ none reported 

 

Noncompliance material to financial statements noted? ____ yes    __ X__ no 

  

Federal Awards 

Internal Control over major programs: 

Material weaknesses identified?    ____ yes    __ X__ no 

 

Significant deficiencies identified not considered 

  to be material weaknesses?    ____ yes    __ X __ none reported 

 

Type of auditor’s report issued on compliance for 

  major programs.     Unmodified 

 

Any audit findings disclosed that are required to 

  be reported in accordance with OMB Circular 

  A-133, Section 510(a)?    ____ yes    _X _ no 

 

Identification of major program: 

       CFDA Number  Name of Federal Program or Cluster 

  

 81.041  State Energy Program 

 81.042  Weatherization Assistance for Low-Income Persons 

 66.458   State Revolving Funds (Clean Water)  

 66.468  State Revolving Funds (Drinking Water)  
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GEORGIA ENVIRONMENTAL FINANCE AUTHORITY 
 

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2013 

 
 

 

 

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between 

Type A and Type B programs:    $2,701,142 

 

Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee?   __X__ yes    ____ no 

 

SECTION II 
FINANCIAL STATEMENT FINDINGS AND RESPONSES 

 

None reported. 

 

 
SECTION III 

FEDERAL AWARDS FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 
 

None reported. 
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GEORGIA ENVIRONMENTAL FINANCE AUTHORITY 
 

STATUS OF PRIOR YEAR FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2013 

 
 

 
 

None reported 
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